
GOSPORT BOROUGH 
COUNCIL meeting

AGENDA
 

Wednesday, 9 October 2019
6.00 pm

Public Document Pack





1

Notice is hereby given that a MEETING of the COUNCIL OF THE BOROUGH OF 
GOSPORT will be held in the COUNCIL CHAMBER, TOWN HALL, GOSPORT, PO12 
1EB on WEDNESDAY the NINTH DAY of OCTOBER 2019 at 6PM, AND ALL MEMBERS 
OF THE COUNCIL ARE HEREBY SUMMONED TO ATTEND TO CONSIDER AND 
RESOLVE THE FOLLOWING BUSINESS –

1.  To receive apologies from Members for their inability to attend the Meeting 

2.  To confirm the Minutes of Meeting of the Council held on 24th July 2019 (copy 
herewith). 

3.  To consider any Mayor's Communications. 

4.  To receive Deputations in accordance with Standing Order No 3.4 and to answer 
Public Questions pursuant to Standing Order No 3.5, such questions to be 
answered orally during a time not exceeding 15 minutes. 

(NOTE: Standing Order No 3.4 requires that notice of a Deputation should be 
received by the Borough Solicitor NOT LATER THAN 12 O’CLOCK NOON ON 
MONDAY 7 OCTOBER 2019 and likewise Standing Order No 3.6 requires that 
notice of a Public Question should be received by the Borough Solicitor NOT 
LATER THAN 12 O’CLOCK NOON ON MONDAY 7 OCTOBER 2019).

5.  Questions (if any) pursuant to Standing Order No 3.3 

(NOTE: Members are reminded that Standing Order No 3.3 requires that Notice of 
Question pursuant to that Standing Order must be received by the Borough 
Solicitor NOT LATER THAN 12 O’CLOCK NOON ON TUESDAY, 8 OCTOBER 
2019).

6.  Consideration of recommendations by Boards of the Council: 

BOARD DATE

            
     
Community Board                                              11 September 2019
Policy and Organisation Board                            25 September 2019
            



2

7.  To receive the following Part II minutes of the Boards of the Council: 

BOARD DATE
Community Board  
Economic Development Board 
Policy and Organisation Board 

11  September 2019
18 September 2019
25 September 2019

8.  Fees and charges 

To consider and approve the amended fees & charges contained in this report 
and appendix.

9.  Climate Change Working Group 

To confirm the composition and structure of the Climate Change Working Group 
set up by a meeting of Full Council on 24 July 2019 and to appoint a Climate 
Change Awareness Champion.

DAVID WILLIAMS
CHIEF EXECUTIVE

TOWN HALL
GOSPORT

1 October 2019

FIRE PRECAUTIONS

(To be read by the Mayor if members of the public are present)

In the event of the fire alarm being activated, please leave the Council Chamber and 
Public Gallery immediately. Proceed downstairs by way of the main stairs or as 
directed by GBC staff, follow any of the emergency exit signs. People with disability 
or mobility issues please identify yourself to GBC staff who will assist in your 
evacuation of the building.

This meeting may be filmed or otherwise recorded. By attending this meeting, you 
are consenting to any broadcast of your image and being recorded. 

MEMBERS ARE REQUESTED TO NOTE THAT:



3

(1) IF THE COUNCIL WISHES TO CONTINUE ITS BUSINESS BEYOND 9.30PM THEN 
THE MAYOR MUST MOVE SUCH A PROPOSITION IN ACCORDANCE WITH 
STANDING ORDER 4.11.18

(2) MOBILE PHONES SHOULD BE SWITCHED OFF OR SWITCHED TO SILENT FOR 
THE DURATION OF THE MEETING



This page is intentionally left blank



1

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE COUNCIL
HELD ON 24 JULY 2019 AT 6.00 pm

Attendance:

The Mayor (Mrs Jones) (in the Chair)

Councillors Ballard, Bateman, Mrs Batty, Beavis, Rev Blackman, Burgess,  Carter, Casey, 
Chegwyn, Mrs Cully, Earle, Farr, Foster-Reed, Furlong, Hammond, Herridge, Hook, Mrs 
Hook, Hutchison, Hylands, Jessop, Johnston, Miss Kelly, Mrs Mitchell, Mrs Morgan, 
Murphy, Pepper, Philpott, Mrs Prickett, Raffaelli, Scard, Westerby.   

Also in attendance: Honorary Alderman Gill. 

APOLOGIES 
An apology for non attendance was received from Cllr Huggins. 

TO CONFIRM THE MINUTES OF MEETINGS OF THE COUNCIL HELD ON 15TH AND 
16TH MAY 2019 

Resolved: That the minutes of the meetings of the Council held on 15 and 16 May 2019 be 
signed as true and correct record subject to the minor amendments identified. 

MAYOR'S COMMUNICATIONS.

The Mayor welcomed the newly elected Councillor Mitchell to the Council.

The Mayor led  a minute of reflection for the late Honorary Alderman Angela Whitbread. 

Tributes were also paid to well known Gosport resident Dave Rowlands. 

The Mayor advised that she had attended 84 events in her first 8 weeks and that it had 
been pleasing to see so many citizens of the Borough. She advised that she would be 
holding a 10 hour dance-a-thon in the autumn. 

DEPUTATIONS IN ACCORDANCE WITH STANDING ORDER NO 3.4 AND TO ANSWER 
PUBLIC QUESTIONS PURSUANT TO STANDING ORDER NO 3.5, 

There were none. 

QUESTIONS (IF ANY) PURSUANT TO STANDING ORDER NO 3.3.

Question standing in the name of Councillor Miss Kelly on: 

With regard to reducing Gosport Borough`s carbon footprint, can you advise members on 
how many public electric car charging points are there within the Borough?

Was answered by the Leader of the Council 

Question standing in the name of Councillor Miss Kelly on:

Public Document Pack Agenda Item 2



2

Are GBC in the process of reviewing the success of the Community Lottery as a year has 
now passed?

Was answered by the Leader of the Council. 

Question standing in the name of Councillor Miss Kelly on:

With the enrolment of extra Enforcement Officers has the issue of fines for parking, littering 
and dog fouling increased?

Was answered by the Chairman of the Community Board 

Question standing in the name of Councillor Hutchison on:

What is Gosport Council’s position on supporting the Woman Against State Pension 
Inequality  group commonly known as the WASPIs

Was answered by the Leader of the Council. 

NOTICE OF MOTION

It was reported that Councillor Johnston had given notice of the following Motion in 
accordance with Standing Order 3.2.

Council notes:
that the impacts of climate breakdown are already causing serious damage around the 
world. 

that the ‘Special Report on Global Warming of 1.5°C’, published by the Intergovernmental 
Panel on Climate Change in October 2018, (a) describes the enormous harm that a 2°C 
average rise in global temperatures is likely to cause compared with a 1.5°C rise, and (b) 
confirms that limiting Global Warming to 1.5°C may still be possible with ambitious action 
from national and sub-national authorities, civil society and the private sector.

that all governments (national, regional and local) have a duty to act, and local 
governments that recognise this should not wait for their national governments to change 
their policies; 

that strong policies to cut emissions also have associated health, wellbeing and economic 
benefits;

and that, recognising this, a growing number of UK local authorities as well as the UK 
Government have already passed 'Climate Emergency' motions.

Council therefore commits to:

Declare a ‘Climate Emergency’ that requires urgent action.

Make the Council’s activities net-zero carbon by 2030



3

Achieve 100% clean energy across the Council’s full range of functions by 2030

Ensure that all strategic decisions, budgets and approaches to planning decisions are in 
line with a shift to zero carbon by 2030.

Support and work with all other relevant agencies towards making the entire area zero 
carbon within the same timescale;

Implement a strategy that will drastically improve the amount of our kerb side and 
commercial waste that is recycled within 12 months.

Ensure that political and chief officer leadership teams embed this work in all areas and 
take responsibility for reducing, as rapidly as possible, the carbon emissions resulting from 
the Council’s activities, ensuring that any recommendations are fully costed and that the 
Executive and Scrutiny functions review council activities taking account of production and 
consumption emissions and produce an action plan within 12 months, together with budget 
actions and a measured baseline;

Request that Council Scrutiny Panels consider the impact of climate change and the 
environment when reviewing Council policies and strategies;

Work with, influence and inspire partners across the district, county and region to help 
deliver this goal through all relevant strategies, plans and shared resources by developing a 
series of meetings, events and partner workshops;

Request that the Council and partners take steps to proactively include young people in the 
process, ensuring that they have a voice in shaping the future;

Request that the Executive Portfolio holder with responsibility for Climate Change convenes 
a Citizens’ Assembly in 2019 in order to involve the wider population in this process. This 
group would help develop their own role, identify how the Council’s activities might be made 
net-zero carbon by 2030, consider the latest climate science and expert advice on solutions 
and to consider systematically the climate change impact of each area of the Council’s 
activities;

Set up a Climate Change Partnership group, involving Councillors, residents, young 
citizens, climate science and solutions experts, businesses, and other relevant parties. 
Over the following 12 months, the Group will consider strategies and actions being 
developed by the Council and other partner organisations and develop a strategy in line 
with a target of net zero emissions by 2030. It will also recommend ways to maximise local 
benefits of these actions in other sectors such as employment, health, transport and the 
economy

Report on the level of investment in the fossil fuel industry that our pensions plan and other 
investments have, and review the Council’s investment strategy to give due consideration 
to climate change impacts in the investment portfolio;

Ensure that all reports in preparation for the 2020/21 budget cycle and investment strategy 
will take into account the actions the council will take to address this emergency;

Call on the UK Government to provide the powers, resources and help with funding to make 
this possible, and ask local MPs to do likewise;



4

Consider other actions that could be implemented, including (but not restricted to): 
renewable energy generation and storage, providing electric vehicle infrastructure and 
encouraging alternatives to private car use, increasing the efficiency of buildings, in 
particular to address fuel poverty; proactively using local planning powers to accelerate the 
delivery of net carbon new developments and communities, coordinating a series of 
information and training events to raise awareness and share good practice;

The motion was accordingly seconded by Councillor Mrs Mitchell. 

An amendment was put to the Council, proposed by the Leader of the Council 

That the Council notes:

that the impacts of climate breakdown are already causing serious damage around the 
world. 

that the ‘Special Report on Global Warming of 1.5°C’, published by the Intergovernmental 
Panel on Climate Change in October 2018, (a) describes the enormous harm that a 2°C 
average rise in global temperatures is likely to cause compared with a 1.5°C rise, and (b) 
confirms that limiting Global Warming to 1.5°C may still be possible with ambitious action 
from national and sub-national authorities, civil society and the private sector.

that all governments (national, regional and local) have a duty to act, and local 
governments that recognise this should not wait for their national governments to change 
their policies; 

that strong policies to cut emissions also have associated health, wellbeing and economic 
benefits;

and that, recognising this, a growing number of UK local authorities as well as the UK 
Government have already passed 'Climate Emergency' motions.

Council therefore commits to:

1. Recognises the need to remain fully engaged with the issue of climate change, and 
shall pay close heed to – the action taken by many other Councils and organisations 
in the UK and globally, 

2. Commits to develop an action plan that takes into account the Government’s world 
leading, ambitious target so as to provide a meaningful and effective set of measures 
to such an extent as shall be considered to be affordable for the residents of the 
Borough, to ensure that Gosport moves toeards any proven need for carbon 
neutrality by 2050 and developing yet greater resilience to the effects of climate 
change 

3. Appointing an energy awareness champion 

4. Setting up a working group to move the plan forward. 

Furthermore because of the widespread public and Member interest in this matter, that 
Gosport Borough Council unanimously support the bold and ambitious programme. 



5

The motion was put to the meeting and the amendment was declared CARRIED 

COUNCIL RESOLVED: That the Substantive Motion be agreed.

PART II MINUTES 

COUNCIL RESOLVED: That the following Part II Minutes be received 

 Community Board 16th May 2019
 Economic Development Board 16 May 2019 and 3 July 2019
 Policy and Organisation Board 16 May 2019 and 24 July 2019

RETURNING OFFICER'S REPORT ON THE BOROUGH COUNCIL BY-ELECTION IN 
THE BROCKHURST WARD HELD ON 30 MAY 2019

GOSPORT BOROUGH COUNCIL

RETURNING OFFICER’S REPORT ON THE BOROUGH COUNCIL

BY-ELECTION IN THE BROCKHURST WARD HELD ON

THURSDAY, 30 MAY 2019

1. I have to report that a vacancy arose for the office of Councillor 
for the Brockhurst Ward of the Borough following the sad 
passing of Councillor Austin Hicks. 

2. Four candidates were validly nominated in the election of a Councillor 
for the Brockhurst Ward to fill the resulting vacancy. A Poll was taken 
on 30 May 2019 and the votes cast for the respective candidates were 
as follows:

Names of Candidates Number of Votes for Each 
Candidate

Simon James BELLORD 165
Siobhan MITCHELL-SMITH 488
Kirsty Anne SMILLIE 80
Peceli ULUIVITI 214

3. Accordingly, I duly declared elected the candidate who received the 
greatest number of votes, namely Siobhan Mitchell-Smith who will 
serve until May 2022.

REVIEW OF COUNCIL BOARDS AND COMMITTEE AND DETERMINATION OF 
ALLOCATION OF SEATS

RESOVLED: That the Council approve the allocation of Boards and Committees set out in 
paragraph 3.1 of the report of the Chief Executive. 



6

TO APPOINT MEMBERS OF THE POLICY AND ORGANISATION BOARD AND 
STANDARDS AND GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

RESOLVED: That Councillor Mitchell be appointed to the Standards and Governance 
Committee and that she replace Councillor Herridge on the Community Board and that 
Councillor Herridge be appointed to the Policy and Organisation Board. 

TO APPOINT AN ACCESS AND DISABILITY CHAMPION

RESOLVED: That the Council appoint an Access and Disability Champion. 

Councillor Mitchell and Councillor Batty were nominated, a vote was taken and Councillor 
Batty was elected as the Access and Disability Champion. 

Meeting concluded 20:19

The Mayor.



REPORT TO:  COUNCIL – AGENDA ITEM 6

DATE OF MEETING: 9 OCTOBER 2019

REPORT BY: COUNCILLOR BURGESS  (CHAIRMAN OF THE COMMUNITY 
BOARD)

At its meeting on 11 September 2019 the Community Board considered a
joint report and addendum of the Head of Streetscene Manager on the following item 
and made the following recommendation to Full Council.

ABANDONED SHOPPING TROLLEY POLICY  

RECOMMENDATION: 

The Board recommends to Full Council:

The Council adopts Schedule 4 (Abandoned Shopping and Luggage Trolleys) 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 (“Schedule 4”) for its area and the 
Abandoned Shopping Trolley Policy with effect from a date no later than 3 
months following such a resolution in full Council.

     The Monitoring Officer to have the authority to take the steps required by 
the legislation to adopt Schedule 4 and implement the Policy.

Agenda Item 6



Appendix 1 – Part I Minutes of the meeting of the Community Board held on 
11 September 2019

13. ABANDONED SHOPPING TROLLEY POLICY 

Consideration was given to a report of the Head of Streetscene  advising 
Members on the outcome of the consultation exercise as authorised by the 
Chief Executive in August 2018, and to recommend the implementation of the 
Abandoned Shopping Trolley Policy (Appendix A) and set the appropriate 
fees.

Members welcomed the implementation of a policy that would help to address 
the issue of abandoned shopping trolleys as they were unsightly within the 
Borough. 

The Board questioned whether it was hoped the policy would encourage 
supermarkets to collect the trolleys before the Council did, as they were 
already requested to collect abandoned trolleys. 

The Board was advised that supermarkets rented trolleys and that they were 
priced at £400-£600 each, it was thought that paying the fine would be a 
better alternative than paying for a new trolley. In addition, the policy would 
encourage supermarkets to work to keep their trolleys on site and it was 
advised that it was important that the Council were not out of pocket in their 
efforts to remove abandoned trolleys from the Borough. 

The Board was advised that supermarkets were obligated to take 
responsibility for their trolleys and that those trolleys that it was noted that 
there tended to be a greater problem with trolleys that were not were not fitted 
with the requirement for a £1 deposit. 

In answer to a Member’s question, the Board was advised that it would be 
possible to enforce the Policy on shops located outside the Borough, including 
those belonging to shops on Newgate Lane. 

The Board was also advised that investigations would be made into removing 
trolleys from the creek. 

Members questioned whether it would be possible to remove trolleys that 
were located on private land as they were often unsightly. Members were 
advised to report any incidents of fly tipping to Streetscene for assessment.

Resolved:  

That the Board recommends to Full Council:

The Council adopts Schedule 4 (Abandoned Shopping and Luggage Trolleys) 
Environmental Protection Act 1990 (“Schedule 4”) for its area and the 
Abandoned Shopping Trolley Policy with effect from a date no later than 3 
months following such a resolution in full Council.



The Monitoring Officer to have the authority to take the steps required by the 
legislation to adopt Schedule 4 and implement the Policy. 



This page is intentionally left blank



Board/Committee: Community Board
Date of Meeting: Wednesday 11th September 2019
Title: Abandoned Shopping Trolley Policy
Author: Head of Streetscene
Status: FOR DECISION 

Purpose

The purpose of this report is to advise Members on the outcome of the 
consultation exercise as authorised by the Chief Executive in August 2018, 
and to recommend the implementation of the Abandoned Shopping Trolley 
Policy (Appendix A) and set the appropriate fees.

Recommendation

The Board recommends to Full Council:

The Council adopts Schedule 4 (Abandoned Shopping and Luggage 
Trolleys) Environmental Protection Act 1990 (“Schedule 4”) for its area and 
the Abandoned Shopping Trolley Policy with effect from a date no later 
than 3 months following such a resolution in full Council.

The Monitoring Officer to have the authority to take the steps required by 
the legislation to adopt Schedule 4 and implement the Policy.

1 Background

1.1

1.2  

Gosport has suffered from high numbers of abandoned and dumped 
shopping trolleys. Gosport Borough Council has been working with 
local supermarkets on how best to deal with the problem, including 
ways to prevent trolleys from leaving their premises and the quick 
collection of abandoned and dumped trolleys. However, the problem 
has remained constant.

On 24th August 2018 therefore, the Chief Executive approved the 
content of a draft Policy to be the subject of statutory consultation.

1.3

1.4

1.5

A consultation exercise was conducted between 20th September 
2018 and 1st November 2018 with various public and trade bodies, as 
well as the public themselves. A summary of those comments as well 
as the list of consultees is listed as Appendix B.

An example of the letter sent is attached Appendix B together with a 
list of the bodies to which it was sent.

Additionally letters were sent by Gosport Borough Council housing 



1.6

1.7

department to 45 households who had previously given their consent 
to a participation in surveys. 21 replies were received with the 
overwhelming majority of in favour of the adoption of the policy.

A notice was also placed on the Gosport Borough Council web site 
inviting responses from the public regarding the adoption of the 
policy. This generated several responses to Streetscene. Of these 
and the housing responses, twenty three were in favour, six against 
and eleven were neutral. Eight of the responses felt action should be 
taken against the public rather than retailers. All responses are 
attached at Appendix B

No reply was received from the retailers to whom the letter was sent 
or from the trade bodies representing them.

2 Report

2.1 In order to adopt Schedule 4 for its area and implement the Policy 
Full Council must make a resolution. The legislation then requires the 
Council to publish a notice in the local press that the resolution has 
been made, its general effect and the date Schedule 4 and the Policy 
will come into force; which must not be before the expiration of a 
three month period beginning on the day on which the resolution is 
passed.

3 Risk Assessment

3.1 If the Council does not effectively deal with abandoned shopping 
trolleys there is a risk to the Council’s reputation. 

4 Conclusion

4.1 The result of the consultation is in favour of the draft policy. Following 
the consultation exercise the draft Policy has been amended as 
follows for clarification, and to ensure that the Council covers the 
costs of removing, storage, and disposing of such trolleys. 

8.1 amended to £5 per day storage, and £50 for collection and 
disposal and return of Trolleys
8.2 amended total costs to £310 for collection storage and disposal 
and return of Trolleys for 42 days (6 weeks)

The Policy has also taken into account minor typographical 
amendments.

Financial Services comments: No adverse comments
Legal Services comments: Contained within the report
Crime and Disorder: From a Crime and Disorder Perspective –



abandoned shopping trolleys can have a 
negative impact on community safety so a 
proactive policy is positive

Equality and Diversity: To promote a consistent approach to the 
problem of abandoned shopping trolleys 
being left on the public highways causing 
obstructions.  The purpose of this Policy is 
to reduce the amount of abandoned 
trolleys throughout the Borough and try to 
promote the importance of a cleaner, safer 
neighbourhood. An Equality Impact 
assessment has been completed for this 
Policy.    

Service Improvement Plan 
implications:

Existing activities identified within the
Service Improvement Plan support the
desired outcomes of the Policy.

Corporate Plan: Deliver effective services:
Use a commercial approach to ensure our 
services deliver what they need to in the 
most effective way possible, providing 
value for money.

Enhance the environment:
Enhance the unique character, 
environment and assets of the borough 
and make it a great place to live and work.

Risk Assessment: This is contained within Section 3 of the 
report.

Background papers: None.
Appendices/Enclosures:
Appendix ‘A’ Abandoned Shopping Trolley Policy
Appendix ‘B’ Summary of consultation exercise
Report author/ Lead Officer: Graeme Mudge (5569)



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix A

Section 99 and Schedule 4 of The Environmental Protection Act 1990

ABANDONED SHOPPING TROLLEY POLICY 

1. Background 
1.1 Abandoned shopping trolleys (Trolleys) are having an increasing detrimental 

impact upon our local environment.  They make the area look run down, contribute to 

littering, antisocial behaviour, cause harm to wildlife and create a flood hazard in 

waterways. 

1.2 Gosport Borough Council (the Council) at a meeting of the Community Board on 

[date] has pursuant to section 99 of The Environmental Protection Act 1990 (the Act) 

resolved that Schedule 4 of  the Act  will apply to its area with effect from [date] .

2. Aim
The Council aims to ensure retailers take greater ownership of their trolleys and 

where this fails, take steps to reduce the number of abandoned Trolleys in order to 

improve the visual appearance of an area, reduce waste and litter and associated 

anti-social behaviour. 

3. Scope 

The policy is applies to all areas and retailers that provide shopping trolleys within 

the Borough of Gosport. 

4. The Law 
Schedule 4 of The Act allows the Council to

• Seize and remove Trolleys on *land or waterways within the Borough of Gosport in       

the open air; 

• Store Trolleys for a period of six weeks; 

• Serve a notice on anyone who appears to be the owner informing them that the 

Trolley will be disposed of if it is not claimed; 

• Sell or dispose of Trolleys after the six week period has expired; 

• Charge a person who appears to be the owner an amount to cover the removal, 

storage and disposal of the Trolley. 



Appendix A

5. *Private Land 
5.1 The Council will ask permission from landowners or occupiers before removing 

Trolleys from private land.

5.2 If they don’t give permission, the Council will serve a notice on the landowner 

stating that it intends to remove the Trolley.

5.3 If no objection is received, the Council will remove the Trolley 14 days after 

notice is served.

6. Contacting Trolley owners
6.1 If the Council is able to identify Trolley owners, it will give them notice to claim 

any Trolleys that have been removed.

6.2 This notice will state all of the following:

 that the Council has  removed the Trolley and are keeping it
 where it is being kept
 that the Council may dispose of the trolley if the owner does not claim it within 

42 days (6 weeks)

6.3 The Council must deliver the Trolley to its owner if they claim it, provided the 
owner has paid the appropriate costs of collection, storage and return in full within 
42 day period (6 weeks).

6.4 If the owner does not pay, the Trolley will not been returned, but the Council will 
still claim the cost of storage of the Trolley from the owner.

7. Disposing of trolleys

The Council will keep Trolleys for 42 days (6 weeks) after removing them.  If any 
Trolley has not been claimed within this period the Council will sell or dispose of the 
Trolleys.

8. Claiming costs

8.1 The Council is charged £50 by its contractor for the removal of a Trolley, and £50 
for its disposal and return. The Trolleys are to be stored at Council premises at a 
cost of £5 per day for 42 days (6 weeks). 



Appendix A

8.2 The total cost of removal, storage and disposal is therefore £310, and the owner 
will be liable for this cost if no claim on the trolley is made. Should a claim on the 
trolley be made within the 42 day (6 week) period the owner will be liable for the 
appropriate storage costs, and for the collection and return charges. 

    Discharge of functions

9. The processes set out this policy may be undertaken by Council officers or 
contractors or agents of the Council.



This page is intentionally left blank



Appendix B

For Against Neutral Comments Should be 
directed at 
public 

1 I agree this problem needs to be tackled whole 
heartedly along with many other much more important 
problems as well. All this legislation for shopping 
trolleys though my word it's a bit jobs worth. It's the 
lazy good for nothing people that take them and dump 
them that need to be dealt with by the courts not the 
supermarkets

1

1 Brilliant - get in there GBC - I can see every week 
people are reporting trolleys and the companies 
responsible do not seem interested.

1 Cannot believe just how stupid is this idea. The trolley 
problem (if it does exist) is caused by the general public 
not giving two monkies about the enviroment they live 
in, It is them that are dumping the trolleys ,not the 
supermarkets.

1

1 On my morning walk today, I saw at least four 
abandoned trolleys. I didn't note the corresponding 
store. My frustration lays not with the stores but the 
people who remove them. If the stores don't know 
where they are, how do they know to recover them? It 
may be cheaper for the stores jointly to pay a van man 
to go around once or twice a day to pick up reported 
trollies and return them appropriately. That would stop 
them lingering for up to two weeks, as far as being on 
private property is concerned if the owners object to 
removal then they are condoning theft. Make it easy 
for production to report abandoned trollies - one 
central number regardless of the source of the trolley. 

1

1 Great to give this attention as this is a real problem in 
Gosport - however the consultation does not currently 
identify how the public can report incidents of 
abandoned trolleys in order for this policy to work and 
be effective . Without an effective reporting system 
this policy will have limited benefits 

1 A very good idea in principal as long as the cost of a 
new trolley is more than £75



Appendix B

1 I cannot see this working unless there is an effective 
and cost-effective method of reporting and managing 
the process. I would like to see actual numbers of 
trolleys found to date so that we can track how 
effective this policy is over time. I would like to see a 
detailed cost-benefit analysis of the projected financial 
numbers so that a better "informed" consultation can 
take place. Unless individuals are bought to book for 
their antisocial behavior then why will they change. If 
it's less than £200 the Police will not do anything. This 
Policy will simply add to the costs for the shops that 
will then be passed on to the public. Let's have at least 
10 times as many Community Support Police Officers 
patrolling all our streets day and night and actually 
taking action against individuals, with reporting of 
events via 101 and social media. But I guess that does 
not raise money, which this scheme will attempt to do

1

1 I don't think abandoned trollies will be reclaimed (as 
they are not now!), leaving the council having to pay to 
dispose of them. Why not get Streetscene/council 
operatives to return abandoned trollies to the 
Supermarket and charge/fine them for doing so? It 
might incentivise the Supermarkets to send out staff to 
collect them

1 Trolleys from ASDA Fareham are often abandoned in 
Bridgemary. Would this Policy apply to stores on the 
Fareham/Gosport boundary? If not then we will still 
suffer the eyesore if trolleys abandoned by lazy, 
inconsiderate shoppers who use the Collingwood 
footpath to avoid the problem of getting out of ASDA 
via Newgate Lane by parking in Tukes Avenue!

1 Brilliant - about time the supermarket were made take 
charge of their property

1 As someone who has frequently both returned trolleys 
and reported trolleys to the offending shops I would 
heavily endorse the policy suggested here. What is 
remarkable is the frequent lack of interest or ‘we don’t 
have the manpower to do it’ by the shops concerned. 

1 BRILLIANT IDEA! I gathered up some Asda trollies which 
were in my street( quite near Asda) but when I asked 
the shop to send a "trolley boy" around the corner to 
pick them up they refused and really didn,t care.I put 
them back in the street and they ended up in the 
creek,... Who do we contact regarding found trollies 
please. Asdas newest batch of trollies don,t have the 
magnet lock on them that stops them being removed 
from the car park so I expect to see lots of them 
dumped

1 I think very good idea.Especially in Gosport There seem 
to be a problem.Maybe it will encourage retailers to 
improve there systems.



Appendix B

1 I fully support this initiative and it can't happen quickly 
enough in my opinion. I am tired of reporting trollies 
over and over again and seeing them dumped in the 
yachting pond and creek

1 Support this proposal as supermarket trolleys affect the 
appearance of the Borough. Many are dumped into our 
attractive creeks and have a detrimental impact on the 
visual quality of the area. The retail companies know of 
these problems but have consistently failed to act. This 
may be a sufficient enough measure for them to 
implement sensible proposals to retain their trolleys. 
Indeed measures could be considered to encourage 
supermarkets to assist the community in clearing up 
litter including plastic waste

1 Brilliant idea, well done!
1 Thanks, this sounds a great idea. It's about time more 

was done to prevent dumping of trolleys in the Gosport 
Town Ward where I live. Most trolleys around Mumby 
Road and High Street areas seem to come from 
Morrisons Supermarket. It's certainly bad for the 
environment, as no doubt some trolleys get dumped in 
the sea. It's sad that certain people engage in anti-
social trolley dumping and fly tipping, and there's no 
excuse for it. I wish you the best in your attempts to 
solve this problem

1 I support the Gosport Borough Council's proposal to 
adopt a power under the Environmental Protection act 
1990 to deal with the problem of abandoned shopping 
trolleys. I believe the abandoned shopping trolley 
policy is a step forward in dealing with abandoned 
shopping trolleys.

1 I live in Mariners Way, Asda used to send  someone on 
duty to look for their trollies. These are the only ones 
left now abandoned, as the shop refuses to lock them 
up or charge £1.00 for releasing them before you shop. 
I used to take them in but  I was accused of stealing 
Asda property. Everyone in Dolman Road, Old Road etc. 
if they can keep them in their gardens and use them as 
their own.

1 Businesses should be made to take ownership of 
trollies and rubbish around their properties. Storing for 
two weeks is too long and £75.00 is not enough. If 
trollies are sole it must be established to owners and 
trollies should be marked in some way.

1 I think that shopping trollies should be cleared up 
afterwards.



Appendix B

1 My initial reaction was yes, definitely needed then as I 
mulled over the proposal a couple of questions came to 
mind.Has this problem gotten worse since some shops 
stopped using the ‘pound coin’ to release a trolley? In 
that case simple. This policy will force businesses to re-
introduce the release mechanism.If it can be proven, a 
trolley is taken they will have done all in their power to 
prevent their property from becoming a problem; will 
there be some leeway? Can I assume that there will be 
an attempt to find who is taking trollies and using them 
in such an anti-social way? Possibly fining them instead 
of the business.Observation: I have noticed Morrison 
trollies left at the bus stop across the road from the 
shop. The people I have seen leaving them there, have 
in the main been elderly with mobility problems. I must 
admit I have on occasion found this useful, picking up a 
trolley there and taking it back to the shop for my use. 
Generally in my awareness, trollies abandoned at this 
bus stop are there temporarily. Obviously this is not to 
be encouraged, but I would hope Morrison’s would be 
given some leeway on recovery from this location.

1 I do agree about the fact that abandoned trollies are a 
nuisance and an eyesore, but feel that it is very unfair 
that the shop owners should pay. I would suggest lots 
of cameras around the shop site. The culprits removing 
the trollies could be identified, their number plates (if a 
car is involved) collected and they should be made to 
pay. There must be several ways to solve this, but the 
shop owner is not the one to pay. They are sinned 
against, not the sinner.

1

1 Many times trollies have been left at multiple bus stops 
opposite Morrison’s by the lights (bus routes going out 
of Gosport) proving ‘who’ left the trolley/s outside 
private property (multiple blocks) will be difficult to 
pursue, unless on CCTV. Put the charges (£1) back on 
the trollies, it will help cut down this problem 
considerably; people do not like ‘losing’ money.

1 Excellent. I trust the disposal will be on a sell to scrap or 
re-process with the proceeds going to the cost of the 
removal.

1 Very much is favour for this policy. It shocks me how 
many trollies are abandoned in the creek. Surely 
supermarkets would be interested in claiming these 
back? More information given in schools wouldn’t be a 
bad thing.

1 If the trolley owner reports them stolen – how will you 
demand £75 for return of stolen property? Have you 
enough space to store trollies for 6 weeks? Will the 
owner pay £75 for return if trolley – what is they are 
damaged? How much will it cost to retrieve trollies 
from creeks/waterways etc.? How will you dispose of 
them? They are too bulky to be worth any money as 



Appendix B

scrap. They will have to be broken up. Is this cost 
effective? How will you identify the owner? How can 
you justify saying this is associated with anti-social 
behaviour – when the council leaves grass cuttings over 
pathways and pavements?

1 Lazy people. Cost of food going up by charging £75 for 
loose trollies to be paid for. You have cameras by bus 
stops, catch the people who dump them and charge 
them. It will stop them taking them away for the store.

1 I agree that they do, indeed, have a detrimental impact 
on local environment especially so, when dumped in 
places such as the moat at Fort Brockhurst. 
Unfortunately, vandals seem to easily overcome any 
steps taken by owners such as £1 coin charge etc. So 
what possible steps can they take? They have yet to 
invent a trolley that self-destructs when more than 200 
yards/metres from it’s’ owners base! I wish they would 
though

1 Totally agree with entire proposal. I also feel that any 
person found removing a trolley from the owner’s 
premises. Should also be issued a fixed penalty notice 
and ordered to return trolley or owners premises with-
in 24 hours, thus avoiding additional charges. Many of 
the trollies abandoned in the Bridgemary area are the 
property of ‘B&M’ ‘Wickes’ ‘Homebase’ 
‘Poundstretcher’ and Asda (Fareham). As all these 
retailers come under the jurisdiction of Fareham 
Borough Council. Would this new policy be 
enforceable?

1

1 Possibly bring back the £1 charge that some 
supermarkets had, when using a trolley or make better 
use of so called security staff. Even employing a person 
who is on Community Service? They could return the 
wayward trollies to a central area where they could be 
returned to their respective owners

1 I agree that something had to be done regarding 
abandoned trollies, however I have worked in retail 
and know supermarkets try all sorts of different ways 
to stop trollies from being removed from the premises. 
I have seen customers physically lifting a trolley to stop 
the lock for activating or in some cases breaking the 
lock. Even using the ‘coin-in-slot’ lock does not stop 
some people. Maybe supermarkets could look into the 
idea of having signs up stating how much trollies cost 
to replace and this could be passed onto the customer 
in the form of higher prices when trollies are stolen – in 
effect they are as they’re the property of the store, not 
the customer. Anyone caught removing a trolley from 
the premises would be fined, possibly fines going to 
local charities.

1



Appendix B

1 I agree entirely with the councils abandoned shopping 
trolley policy. I would be interested in what any monies 
would be used for.

1 Any action to clear trollies off our streets, alleyways or 
water locations must be beneficial to the town. 
However surely ‘out of hours’ CCTV must show people 
steeling trollies, so why not show them on local TV 
news. I wish you luck with any future actions.

1 I would vote for should I ever be allowed to for charges 
and the enclosed details to be enforced. We see far too 
many trollies littering the pavement. I always thought 
trolley wheels were made so that they could not go 
past a stores front entrance

1 I agree that the Council should target retailers so that 
they take greater ownership of their trollies, and ideally 
the trolleys at the end of each business day should be 
secured so that they cannot be removed from the 
retailer’s premises by unauthorised persons. Under 
Schedule 4 of the Act (The Law), I agree that the person 
who appears to be the owner of the trolley should be 
made to cover the removal, storage and disposal 
charges of the trolley. Seizure of Abandoned Trolley – If 
the retailer chooses not to reclaim their trolley, I feel 
that the retailer should pay a charge for the trolley to 
be disposed of.

1 I have noticed over the Summer months many trollies 
left by people walking to buses at the bus stops 
opposite the Halfords store. Mainly Morrison’s smaller 
style trollies.In the last two weeks this no longer 
happens as Morrison’s have fitted a coin attachment to 
the larger and medium sized trollies which you can 
insert a £1 coin which is returned to you when you 
return the trolley to the store.I think it is a good ideate 
charge for supermarkets to pay for the return of their 
trollies. Sainsbury’s use their own van to collect any 
trollies left in the Fareham area. I cannot comment on 
Asda, Lidl and other supermarkets.Can a check be 
made in the High Street to see if the plastic trollies left 
in the High Street from the pound stores, this could 
happen as Christmas is coming.

1 In my various travels in various supermarkets, the only 
abandoned trollies seem to be around Morrison’s, the 
only group that doesn’t charge for the rental, the idea 
of charging for abandoned trollies seems good in 
theory

1 Will CCTV be equipped so everybody is captured? So, 
rather than pursue the retailer pursue the real 
offender. It just needs a good deal of organisation, 
cooperation between GBC, the retailers, and the Police 
to get the right results

1

1 This is a good policy the needs enforcing strongly
23 6 11 8



Appendix B



This page is intentionally left blank



REPORT TO:  COUNCIL – AGENDA ITEM 7

DATE OF MEETING: 9 OCTOBER 2019

REPORT BY: COUNCILLOR HOOK  (CHAIRMAN OF THE POLICY AND 
ORGANISATION BOARD)

At its meeting on 25 September 2019  the Policy and Organisation Board considered 
a  report of the Borough on the following item and made the following 
recommendation to Full Council.

AMENDMENTS TO CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES- PART 4 SCHEDULE 13

RECOMMENDATION: 

That the Policy and Organisation Board recommends to Full Council that the 
proposed amendments to the Contract Procedures Rules are approved and 
adopted as an amendment to Part 4 Schedule 13 of the Constitution.



Minute extract from the meeting of the Policy and Organisation Board 
held on 25 September 2019.

23. AMENDMENTS TO CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES- PART 4 
SCHEDULE 13 

Consideration was given to a report of the Borough Treasurer appraising the 
Board of necessary changes to the Councils’ Contract Procedure Rules 
concerning the Council’s procurement of goods, services and supplies to 
ensure compliance with updated legislation as detailed in the report.

Members requested that the information currently on the website be reviewed 
to ensure that the most recent information was published and it was confirmed 
that there was currently no entries on the approved list. 

The Board was advised that there was a phased rolling out of the new system 
and that information was being added to the South East business portal 
included contractor reference. 

Members requested that the rules be reviewed to ensure they remained in 
date.

RESOLVED: That the Policy and Organisation Board recommends to Full 
Council that the proposed amendments to the Contract Procedures Rules are 
approved and adopted as an amendment to Part 4 Schedule 13 of the 
Constitution.



Appendix B 

Board/Committee: POLICY AND ORGANISATION
Date of Meeting: 25th September 2019
Title: AMENDMENTS TO CONTRACT PROCEDURE 

RULES- PART 4 SCHEDULE 13
Author: BOROUGH TREASURER 
Status: FOR DECISION

Purpose

To appraise the Board of necessary changes to the Councils’ Contract 
Procedure Rules concerning the Council’s procurement of goods, services 
and supplies to ensure compliance with updated legislation as detailed below.

Recommendation

That the Policy and Organisation Board recommends to Full Council that the 
proposed amendments to the Contract Procedures Rules are approved and 
adopted as an amendment to Part 4 Schedule 13 of the Constitution. 

1 Background

1.1

1.2

1.3

The legislation governing procurement within the Public Sector has 
been reformed and updated in recent years; the Public Contracts 
Regulations 2015 brought into force in English law updated principles 
set out in European Law. The Public Contracts Regulations 2015 
(“the Regulations”) place legal obligations on all Public Service 
organisations to ensure any procurement of goods, services or 
supplies are undertaken in accordance with this legislation.

The Council’s own Contract Procedure Rules (CPR’s) were written to 
ensure fairness and transparency but now need updating to reflect 
the latest requirements of the Regulations; in particular the 
Regulations require public service organisations to undertake all 
procurement in electronic format. The CPR’s have therefore been 
updated to reflect the requirements of the Regulations and the 
changes are detailed below. The opportunity has also been taken to 
update local terminology and practice.

In the event of BREXIT the Regulations will continue to apply as 
prevailing English law. If the law changes following BREXIT then the 
Council will need to make further changes accordingly, as it would in 
the event of any legislative change that affects the way it operates 
and the services it provides. In the event of a no-deal BREXIT 
scenario the Council may no longer be able to access the Official 
Journal of the EU (“OJEU”) for tenders of the highest value. In such 



circumstances the Council will need to access the ‘Find a Tender’ 
system which will be initiated by the UK Government in the event of a 
no-deal BREXIT.

2 Report

2.1 The Council has acquired software (Proactis) which allows 
connection to the South East Business Portal (SEBP) and is a 
procurement portal for service providers and suppliers; it is a national 
database despite the name suggesting a more local forum. The 
SEBP has previously been used to advertise opportunities to tender 
for work with the Council. 

     2.2

    
     

   2.3

    2.4

    2.5

    2.6

The Council is now required to advertise all procurement 
opportunities electronically so the software has been upgraded to 
allow for this functionality and ensure compliance with Legislation. 
The software has been configured to allow users to follow pre-set 
“process maps or work flows” which guide them through the stages 
required by the legislation from low level procurement to the more 
complex and above OJEU threshold procurements. The current EU 
thresholds are £181,302 for Supply, Services and Design Contracts 
and £4,551,413 for Works contracts. Additionally the software is 
configured to replicate the Council’s own CPR’s when EU limits do 
not apply thus ensuring fairness and protecting the Council against 
challenge.

The software then links to the South East Business Portal (SEBP) 
and advertises all opportunities for services, supplies or works that 
are available to suppliers. Further adverts are placed on Tenders 
Electronic Daily and Contracts Finder when appropriate procurement 
financial levels are met.

The SEBP is a national database used by suppliers; it is a free and 
easy to use service. Once registered, suppliers will receive 
automated notification of any opportunities related to their area of 
business and registration takes an average of 5 minutes. 

Many Councils use this software and recent opportunities advertised 
have confirmed some of the Councils current suppliers are already 
registered. If not already connected, registration to the portal is free 
and simple to undertake with full support given by the software 
providers thus negating any need for assistance from Council staff.

The Council is currently contacting all existing suppliers by e-mail or 
letter inviting them to register on the SEBP so they are automatically 
notified of any opportunities within their area of business. This will 
allow all sizes of business to register for Council opportunities and 
the Council’s own website will continue to signpost to the SEBP.



    2.7

    
   
   

2.8

 

The software also has the facility to maintain the Council’s Contracts 
Register and provide reporting functions to assist in the Council’s 
transparency agenda; it stores details and documents of all 
procurements securely within the system allowing for a full auditable 
history of all actions taken, documents issued, received and awards 
made. The software is also set-up to integrate with the UK 
Government’s ‘Find a Tender’ system which will be operational in the 
event of a no-deal BREXIT scenario.

The proposed changes to the Contract Procedure Rules are as 
follows:

 Text amended to confirm all procurements must be 
undertaken in electronic format using the Council Proactis 
software which in connects to the SEBP, Contracts Finder and 
Tenders Electronic Daily, where appropriate procurements 
levels are met.

 Confirmation that a Procurement Guide will be available to 
Officers for help and assistance, full advice will be available 
from the Borough Solicitor and where appropriate the Head of 
Internal Audit and the Procurement Section Head.

 Confirmation that all records relating to Procurement will be 
created and kept within the Proactis software allowing fully 
auditable records.

 Amendment to confirm that a nominated representative of the 
S151 Officer or Financial Services will provide assurance 
regarding bidder’s economic and financial standing (paragraph 
7.1.2).

 Available extensions to Framework agreements in accordance 
with the relevant Regulations (paragraph 7.3.1).

 Procedures to be followed and Officers responsibilities at 
levels of procurement values including clarification that 
Members are not involved in the shortlisting or opening of 
Tenders (paragraph 8.1.1).

 Increase in lowest financial level requiring only one quotation 
(to streamline processes and align with advertising 
requirements) (paragraph 8.1.1)

 Advertising requirements at procurement values (paragraph 
8.1.1).

 Changes to the opening of Tenders which will now be held 
securely within the software and unobtainable for viewing until 
the deadline for tenders has been reached (paragraph13.5).

 Secure opening of Tenders within the software (paragraph 
13.5).

 Updated procedures for Clarifications of Tenders (paragraph 
14.1).

 Confirmation that when awarded Contracts must be posted 



2.9

onto the Contracts Register within the Proactis software.

Finally, terminology and Officer titles have been updated to reflect the 
roles and procedures now in place.

Whilst there is clarification that Members are not involved in the 
shortlisting or opening of Tenders, there is an expectation that 
Officers responsible for procurements should advise the relevant 
Board Chairman when tenders are received, particularly where any of 
the tenders exceed the funding limit, and the outcome of any 
shortlisting. If Board approval has been sought for a specific scheme 
and tenders are received which do not keep within the funding limit 
set by the Board approval the matter will need to revert to the Board 
for reconsideration.

3 Risk Assessment

3.1

3.2

Legal challenges against contract awards are becoming more 
frequent and expensive. Compliance with the Regulations, GBC 
Procurement Guidelines, Financial Regulations and the 
implementation of the new in house software will help mitigate the 
risk of challenge.

The Proactis software is configured to allow various permissions for 
Officers; access will be restricted to the appropriate Officers and 
levels of access have been created in conjunction with the Internal 
Audit Section. The software contains a fully detailed audit history to 
show all interrogations of the software including view only access 
thus ensuring the security and integrity of the system.

4 Conclusion

4.1 Good Procurement practices ensure transparency and protect the 
Council against costly legal challenge. The improvements made to 
the Council’s software and procedures allows the Council to 
advertise opportunities more widely, attract the optimum number of 
bidders, encourage competition and achieve value for money. 

The new Contract Procedure Rules and procedures will assist 
Officers in procuring goods, supplies and services fairly and at the 
best cost and quality available.

Financial Services comments: Included in report
Legal Services comments: Included in report
Risk Assessment: Included in report
Background papers: None



Appendices/Enclosures:
Appendix ‘A’ Proposed Contract Procedure Rules
Report author/ Lead Officer: Stephanie Lucking



This page is intentionally left blank



PART 4 – SCHEDULE 13

154

CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES

CONTENTS
A Brief Guide To Contract Procedure Rules 

Definitions 

Section 1: Scope Of Contract Procedure Rules 

1.   Basic Principles 

2.   Officer Responsibilities
 
3.   Exemptions, Collaborative And E-Procurement Arrangements 

4.   Relevant Contracts 

Section 2: Common Requirements 

5.   Steps Prior To Purchase
 
6.   Records 

7.   Advertising, Approved Lists And Framework
      Agreements 

Section 3: Conducting Purchase And Disposal 

8.   Competition Requirements For Purchase,
      Disposal And Partnership Arrangements 

9.   Pre-Tender Market Research And Consultation 

10. Standards And Award Criteria 

11. Invitations To Tender/Quotations 

12. Shortlisting 

13. Submission, Receipt And Opening Of  Tenders/Quotations 

14. Clarification Procedures And Post-Tender Negotiation



PART 4 – SCHEDULE 13

155

      

15. Evaluation, Award Of Contract, And Debriefing
      Candidates 

Section 4: Contract And Other Formalities 

16. Contract Documents 

17. Bonds And Parent Company Guarantees 

18. Prevention Of Corruption 

19. Declaration Of Interests 

Section 5: Contract Management 

20. Managing Contracts 

21. Risk Assessment And Contingency Planning 

22. Contract Monitoring, Evaluation And Review 

FURTHER ADVICE: 

Legal Services
Internal Audit
Procurement Section Head



PART 4 – SCHEDULE 13

156

A Brief Guide to Contract Procedure Rules

These contract procedure rules (issued in accordance with section 135 of the 
1972 Local Government Act) are intended to promote good purchasing 
practice and public accountability and deter corruption. Following the rules is 
the best defence against allegations that a purchase has been made 
incorrectly or fraudulently.

Officers responsible for purchasing, procurement or disposal must comply 
with these contract procedure rules. They lay down minimum requirements 
and a more thorough procedure may be appropriate for a particular contract. 
(For example, if Rule 8.1 would normally require that quotes be obtained, it 
might be appropriate in particular circumstances to seek additional
quotations in writing or tender submissions. Equally, it may not always be 
appropriate to make use of an exemption under Rule 3 even if one might 
apply or be granted.)

For the purposes of these rules, where there is a requirement for 
communication to be in writing, this shall be deemed to include e-mail as well 
as hard copy.

 Follow the rules if you purchase goods or services or order building 
work.

 Take all necessary legal, financial and professional advice ensuring 
budgetary approval has been gained before the procurement 
process commences.

 Declare any personal financial interest in a contract. Corruption is a 
criminal offence.

 Conduct a value for money review and appraise the purchasing 
need.

 Check whether there is an existing Corporate Contract or 
Hampshire/National Framework agreement you can make use of 
before undergoing a competitive process.

 All procurement must be undertaken using the Council’s electronic 
procurement solution to ensure all bids (quotations and tenders) 
and supporting information will be stored for audit and transparency 
purposes. All opportunities must be advertised in accordance with 
Regulations using the South East Business Portal, Contracts Finder 
and Tenders Electronic Daily via the Councils e-procurement 
solution.

  Allow at least four weeks for submission of bids (except in cases of 
emergency).



PART 4 – SCHEDULE 13

157

 Keep bids confidential.

 Complete a written contract or Council order before the supply or 
works begin, this must be placed on the Procurement portal as part 
of the Council’s central Contracts Register.

 Identify a contract manager with responsibility for ensuring the 
contract delivers as intended.

 Keep records of dealings with suppliers.

 Assess each contract afterwards to see how well it met the 
purchasing need and Value for Money requirements.

In accordance with the Constitution, Full Council has the power to make 
amendments from time to time to these Contract Procedure Rules following 
amendments agreed by Chief Officers and the Head of Internal Audit & Risk 
Assurance.

DEFINITIONS

Agent A person or organisation acting on behalf of the Council or 
on behalf of another organisation.

Agreement on 
Government 
Procurement

The successor agreement to the General Agreement on 
Trade and Tariffs.  The main signatories other than those in 
the European Economic Area include the USA, Canada, 
Japan, Israel, South Korea, Switzerland, Norway, Australia, 
New Zealand, Aruba, Hong Kong, China, Liechtenstein and 
Singapore

Approved List A list drawn up in accordance with Rule 7.2.
Award Criteria The criteria by which the successful Quotation or Tender is 

to be selected (see further Rules 10 and 11.2e).
Award 
Procedure

The procedure for awarding a contract as specified in Rules 
8, 10 and 15.

Best Value The duty, which Part I of the Local Government Act 1999 
places on local authorities, to secure continuous 
improvement in the way in which functions are exercised, 
having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness as implemented by the Council.
This terminology has now in many instances been 
superseded by Value for Money.

Bond An insurance policy: if the contractor does not do what it 
has promised under a contract with the Council, the Council 
can claim from the insurer the sum of money specified in 
the bond (often 10% of the contract value). A bond is 
intended to protect the Council against a level of cost 
arising from the contractor’s failure.



PART 4 – SCHEDULE 13

158

Board(s) The Boards established by the Council to carry out certain 
aspects of its business. All the powers, duties and functions 
of the Council as contained, mentioned or referred to in the 
statutory provisions from time to time in force governing the 
exercise of those powers, duties and functions is described 
specifically and generally in the Terms of Reference within 
the Constitution for each Board appointed by the Council.

Candidate Any person who asks or is invited to submit a Quotation or 
Tender.

Chief 
Executive

As identified in the Constitution.

Chief Officer The officers defined as such in the Constitution
Code of 
Conduct

The code regulating conduct of Officers issued by the Head 
of Paid Service.

Constitution The document approved by the Council which:
 allocates powers and responsibility within the 

Council and between it and others

 delegates authority to act to the Board, Committees 
and Officers

 regulates the behaviour of individuals and groups 
through rules of procedure, codes and protocols.

Consultant Someone employed for a specific length of time to work to 
a defined project brief with clear outcomes to be delivered, 
who brings specialist skills or knowledge to the role, and 
where the Council has no ready access to employees with 
the skills, experience or capacity to undertake the work.

Contracting 
Decision

Any of the following decisions:
 Composition of Approved Lists

 Withdrawal of Invitation to Tender

 Whom to invite to submit a Quotation or Tender

 Shortlisting

 Award of contract

 Any decision to terminate a contract
Corporate 
Contract

A contract let by the Council to support the Council’s aim of 
achieving Value for Money.

 Borough 
Treasurer

As defined by the Constitution.

EU Procedure The procedure required by Procurement Legislation where 
the Total Value exceeds the EU Threshold.



PART 4 – SCHEDULE 13

159

EU Threshold The contract value at which the EU public procurement 
directives apply.

European 
Economic 
Area

The  members of the European Union, and Norway, Iceland 
and Liechtenstein

Financial 
Regulations

The financial regulations outlining Officer responsibilities for 
financial matters issued by the Section 151 Officer in 
accordance with the Constitution.

Framework 
agreements

An agreement between one or more authorities and one or 
more economic operators, the purpose of which is to 
establish the terms governing contracts to be awarded 
during a given period, in particular with regard to price and, 
where appropriate, the quantity envisaged.

Borough 
Solicitor  

As identified in the Constitution.

High Profile A high-profile purchase is one that could have an impact on 
functions integral to Council service delivery should it fail or 
go wrong.

High Risk A high-risk purchase is one which presents the potential for 
substantial exposure on the Council’s part should it fail or 
go wrong.

High Value A high-value purchase is where the value exceeds the EU 
Threshold values.

Invitation to 
tender

Invitation to tender documents in the form required by these 
contract procedure rules.

Key Decision Those decisions or recommendations (i.e. outcomes) made 
by individual Boards can be defined as key decisions. 

Nominated 
Suppliers and 
Sub-
Contractors

Those persons specified in a main contract for the 
discharge of any part of the contract.

Non-
commercial 
Considerations

As defined in Section 17 of the Local Government Act 
1988.

Officer The officer designated to deal with the contract in question.
Parent 
Company 
Guarantee

A contract which binds the parent of a subsidiary company 
as follows: if the subsidiary company fails to do what is has 
promised under a contract with the Council, the Council can 
require the parent company to do so instead.

Priority 
Services

Those services required to be tendered as defined in the 
EU public procurement directives.

Procurement 
Guide

The suite of guidance documents, together with a number 
of standard documents and forms, which supports the 
implementation of these contract procedure rules. 

Procurement 
Legislation

The Public Contracts Regulations 2015 or any successor 
legislation applying to English law.

Quotation A quotation of price and any other relevant matter (without 
the formal issue of an Invitation to Tender).

Relevant Contracts to which these contract procedure rules apply 



PART 4 – SCHEDULE 13

160

Contract (see rule 4).
Section Head The Officer’s immediate superior or the Officer designated 

by the Service Unit Manager to exercise the role reserved 
to the Section Head by these contract procedure rules.

Shortlisting The process of selecting Candidates who are to be invited 
to quote or bid or to proceed to final evaluation.

Tender A Candidate’s proposal submitted in response to an 
Invitation to Tender.

Tender record 
log

The log kept by the Council.

Total Value The whole of the value or estimated value (in money or 
equivalent value) for a single purchase or disposal 
calculated as follows:

(a) where the contract is for a fixed period, by taking the 
total price to be paid or which might be paid during the 
whole of the period

(b) where the purchase involves recurrent transactions for 
the same type of item, by aggregating the value of those 
transactions in the coming 12 months

(c) where the contract is for an uncertain duration, by 
multiplying the monthly payment by 48

(d) for Nominated Suppliers and Sub-contractors, the total 
value shall be the value of that part of the main contract to 
be fulfilled by the Nominated Supplier or Sub-contractor.

TUPE

Transfer of 
Undertakings 
(Protection of 
Employment) 
Regulations 
2006 (SI 2006 
No 246)

Subject to certain conditions, these regulations apply where 
responsibility for the delivery of works or services for the 
authority is transferred from one organisation (eg private 
contractor, local authority in-house team) to another (eg 
following a contracting out or competitive tendering 
process) and where the individuals involved in carrying out 
the work are transferred to the new employer. These 
regulations seek to protect the rights of
employees in such transfers, enabling them to enjoy the 
same terms and conditions, with continuity of employment, 
as existed with their former employer. Broadly, TUPE 
regulations ensure that the rights of employees are 
transferred along with the business.

Umbrella 
Agreement

Means one of the following agreement types: Framework 
Agreements, Dynamic Purchasing System, corporate 
Contracts, shared service arrangements, purchase of 
services from another Contracting Authority, etc.

Value for 
money

Value for money is not the lowest possible price; it 
combines goods or services that fully meet the needs, with 
the level of quality required, delivery in time, and at an 
appropriate price.



PART 4 – SCHEDULE 13

161

SECTION 1

SCOPE OF CONTRACT PROCEDURE RULES

1. BASIC PRINCIPLES

All purchasing and disposal procedures must:

 achieve value for money for public money spent

 be consistent with the highest standards of integrity

 ensure fairness in allocating public contracts

 comply with all legal requirements

 ensure that Non-commercial Considerations do not influence 
any contracting decision

 support the Council’s corporate and departmental aims, 
objectives and policies

 comply with the Council’s  Procurement Guide and Financial 
Regulations

2. OFFICER RESPONSIBILITIES

2.1 Officers

2.1.1 Officers responsible for purchasing or disposal must comply with these 
contract procedure rules, Financial Regulations, the Code of Conduct 
and with Procurement Legislation.. Officers must ensure that any 
Agents, Consultants and contractual partners acting on their behalf 
also comply.

2.1.2 Officers must:

 Follow the guidance in the Procurement Guide and ensure 
all contracts are passed to the Procurement Team for entry 
onto the Council’s Contract Register. Check whether a 
suitable Corporate Contract or Hampshire/National 
Framework agreement exists before seeking to let another 
contract; where a suitable Corporate Contract or 
Hampshire/National Framework agreement  exists, this must 



PART 4 – SCHEDULE 13

162

be used unless there is a justifiable reason not to

 keep the records required by Rule 6

 take all necessary legal, financial and professional advice.

2.1.3 When any employee either of the authority or of a service provider may 
be affected by any transfer arrangement, Officers must ensure that the 
Transfer of Undertaking (Protection of Employment) (TUPE) issues are 
considered and obtain legal advice before proceeding with inviting 
Tenders or Quotations.

2.2 Chief Officers

2.2.1  Chief Officers must:

 ensure that their staff comply with Rule 2.1

 keep registers of:

- contracts completed by signature, rather than by 
the Council’s seal (see Rule 16.3) and arrange 
their safekeeping on Council premises

- exemptions recorded under Rule 3.2.

3. EXEMPTIONS and COLLABORATIVE ARRANGEMENTS

3.1 The Council and its Boards have power to waive any requirements 
within these contract procedure rules for specific projects, and any 
such decision may be a Key Decision.

3.2 Where a proposed contract is likely to exceed the EU Threshold, a 
Chief Officer has no delegated powers and no exemption from these 
requirements can be used if the EU Procedure applies.

3.3 Where an exemption is necessary because of an unforeseeable 
emergency (below the EU Threshold) involving immediate risk to 
persons, property or serious disruption to Council services, the Chief 
Executive,  Borough Treasurer and the Borough Solicitor  may approve 
the exemption but they must prepare a report for the next appropriate 
Board to support the action taken.

3.4 All exemptions, and the reasons for them, must be recorded  and shall 
be signed by the Chief Executive and countersigned by the Borough 
Treasurer and Borough Solicitor . 



PART 4 – SCHEDULE 13

163

3.5 In order to secure Value for Money, the authority may enter into 
collaborative procurement arrangements. The Officer must consult with 
the Borough Treasurer where the purchase is to be made using 
collaborative procurement arrangements with another local authority, 
government department, statutory undertaker or public service 
purchasing consortium.

3.8.1 All purchases made via a local authority purchasing and distribution 
consortium are deemed to comply with these contract procedure rules 
and no exemption is required. However, purchases above the EU 
Threshold must be let under the EU Procedure, unless the consortium 
has satisfied this requirement already by letting their contract in 
accordance with the EU Procedures on behalf of this authority and 
other consortium members.

3.8.2 Any contracts entered into through collaboration with other local 
authorities or other public bodies, where a competitive process has 
been followed that complies with the contract procedure rules of the 
leading organisation, will be deemed to comply with these contract 
procedure rules and no exemption is required. 

4. RELEVANT CONTRACTS

4.1 All Relevant Contracts must comply with these Contract Procedure 
Rules. A Relevant Contract is any arrangement made by, or on behalf 
of, the authority for the carrying out of works, supplies and services. 
These include arrangements for:

 the supply or disposal of goods

 the hire, rental or lease of goods or equipment

 the delivery of services, including (but not limited to) those
related to:

- the recruitment of staff;

           - land and property transactions;

      - financial and consultancy services.

4.2 Relevant Contracts do not include:

 contracts of employment which make an individual a direct 
employee of the authority, or

 agreements regarding the acquisition, disposal, or transfer of 
land (for which Financial Regulations shall apply).



PART 4 – SCHEDULE 13

164

 provision of legal services by external solicitors or barrister.



PART 4 – SCHEDULE 13

165

SECTION 2
COMMON REQUIREMENTS

5. STEPS PRIOR TO PURCHASE

5.1 The Officer must appraise the purchase, in a manner commensurate 
with its complexity and value, and taking into account any guidance in 
the Procurement Guide, by:

 taking into account the requirements from any relevant value for 
money review

 appraising the need for the expenditure and its priority defining 
the objectives of the purchase

 assessing the risks associated with the purchase and how to 
manage them

 considering what procurement method is most likely to achieve 
the purchasing objectives, including internal or external 
sourcing, partnering, packaging strategy and collaborative 
procurement arrangements with another local authority, 
government department, statutory undertaker or public service
purchasing consortium

 consulting users as appropriate about the proposed 
procurement method, contract standards and performance and 
user satisfaction monitoring

 drafting the terms and conditions that are to apply to the 
proposed contract

 setting out these matters in writing if the Total Value of the 
purchase exceeds £25,000.

5.2 and by confirming that:

 there is member or delegated approval for the expenditure and 
the purchase accords with the approved policy framework and 
scheme of delegation as set out in the Constitution



PART 4 – SCHEDULE 13

166

6. RECORDS

6.1 Where the Total Value is less than £25,000, the following records must 
be kept using the Council’s electronic procurement solution: 

 invitations to quote and all Quotations

 a record:

- of any exemptions and the reasons for them

- of the reason if the lowest price is not accepted

  records of communications with the successful contractor 

6.2 Where the Total Value exceeds £25,000 the Officer must record the 
following using the Council’s electronic procurement system:

 the method for obtaining bids (see Rule 8.1)

 any Contracting Decision and the reasons for it

 any exemption under Rule 3 together with the reasons for it

 the Award Criteria in descending order of importance

 Tender documents sent to and received from Candidates

 pre-tender market research 

 clarification and post-tender negotiation (to include minutes of
meetings)

 the contract documents

 post-contract evaluation and monitoring

 communications with and with the successful
contractor throughout the period of the contract.

6.3 Records required by this rule must be kept for six years after the end of 
the contract (i.e. hard copies). However, written documents which 
relate to unsuccessful Candidates may be electronically scanned or 
stored by some other suitable method after 12 months from award of 
contract, provided there is no dispute about the award. 

7. ADVERTISING, APPROVED LISTS AND FRAMEWORK



PART 4 – SCHEDULE 13

167

AGREEMENTS

7.1 Identifying and Assessing Potential Candidates

7.1.1 Officers shall ensure that, where proposed contracts (in excess of 
£50k), might be of interest to potential Candidates located in other 
member states of the EU, a sufficiently accessible advertisement is 
published. Generally, the greater the interest of the contract to potential 
bidders from other member states, the wider the coverage
of the advertisement should be. Examples of where such 
advertisements may be placed include:

 the Council’s website
 portal websites specifically created for contract advertisements 

(South East Business Portal)
 national official journals, or
 the Official Journal of the European Union (OJEU)/Tenders 

Electronic Daily (TED) (even if there is no requirement within the 
EU Procedure).

7.1.2 Officers are responsible for ensuring that all Candidates for a Relevant 
Contract are fully assessed. The assessment process shall establish 
that the potential Candidates have:

 Sound economic and financial standing (contact Accountancy)

 Sound technical ability and capacity;- and

  Are able to fulfil the requirements of the Council

7.1.3 This shall be achieved in respect of proposed contracts that are 
expected to exceed £50,000 by selecting firms from:

 Approved Lists of providers, maintained by the authority or on its 
behalf, and compiled following responses to a public 
advertisement, or

 shortlists assessed from expressions of interest in a particular 
contract submitted in response to a public advertisement.

7.1.4 Public advertisements issued in respect of Rule 7.1.3 above shall 
reflect the potential degree of interest from Candidates located within 
other member states of the EU.



PART 4 – SCHEDULE 13

168

7.2 Approved Lists

7.2.1 Approved Lists can be used where recurrent transactions of a similar 
type are likely but where such transactions need to be priced 
individually and cannot easily be aggregated and priced in a single 
tendering exercise. Approved Lists cannot be used where the EU 
Procedure applies.

7.2.2  Section Heads may draw up: 

 Approved Lists of persons ready to perform contracts to supply 
goods or services of particular types including without limitation 
on the basis of agreed contract terms. 

 Records must be kept to confirm the requirements of the works, 
goods or services, the methods used to collate the list, criteria 
for shortlisting and the list must be approved by Borough 
Solicitor and Borough Treasurer.

7.2.3 No person may be entered on an Approved List until there has been an 
adequate investigation into both their financial and their technical ability 
to perform the contract.

7.2.4 Approved Lists must be drawn up after an advertisement inviting 
applications for inclusion on the list. The advertisement must be placed 
to secure the widest publicity among relevant suppliers throughout all 
member states of the EU. Persons may be entered on a list between 
the initial advertisement and re-advertisement provided the 
requirements of Rule 7.2.3 are met.

7.2.5 The list and Shortlisting criteria must be reviewed at least annually and 
re-advertised at least every three years. On re-advertisement, a copy 
of the advertisement must be sent to each person on the list, inviting 
them to reapply. Review means:

 the reassessment of the financial and technical ability and 
performance of those persons on the list.

 the deletion of those persons no longer qualified, with a written 
record kept justifying the deletion (In cases of significant failure, 
the Council will delete companies at the appropriate time rather 
than wait until the next review date). 

7.2.6 All Approved Lists shall be maintained in an open, fair and transparent 
manner and be open to public inspection (on the procurement web 
page).



PART 4 – SCHEDULE 13

169

7.2.7 A register of pre-qualified contractors and Consultants (under the EU 
Threshold) maintained by or on behalf of central government (eg 
Constructionline) will be deemed to be an Approved List for the 
purpose of these contract procedure rules and shall not be subject to 
the requirements of Rules 7.2.2 to 7.2.6 inclusive.

7.3  Framework Agreements

7.3.1 The term of a Framework Agreement must not normally exceed four 
years (unless there is a value for money argument approved by the 
Borough Treasurer and Borough Solicitor to extend to a maximum of 8 
years) and, while an agreement may be entered into with one provider, 
where an agreement is concluded with several organisations, there 
must be at least three in number.

7.3.2 Contracts based on Framework Agreements may be awarded by 
either:

 applying the terms laid down in the Framework Agreement 
(where such terms are sufficiently precise to cover the particular 
call-off) without reopening competition and by using the 
Council’s electronic procurement solution to record said call off, 
or

 where the terms laid down in the Framework Agreement are not 
precise enough or complete for the particular call off, by holding 
a mini competition using the Council’s electronic procurement 
solution and in accordance Rule 8.1.1 including the  following 
procedure:

- inviting the organisations within the Framework 
Agreement that are capable of executing the subject of 
the contract to submit written Tenders;

- fixing a time limit (at least 4 weeks) which is sufficiently 
long to allow Tenders for each specific contract to be 
submitted, taking into account factors such as the 
complexity of the subject of the contract;

- awarding each contract to the tenderer who has 
submitted the best Tender on the basis of the Award 
Criteria set out in the specifications of the Framework 
Agreement.



PART 4 – SCHEDULE 13

170

SECTION 3

CONDUCTING PURCHASE AND DISPOSAL

8. COMPETITION REQUIREMENTS FOR PURCHASE,
DISPOSAL AND PARTNERSHIP ARRANGEMENTS

The Officer must calculate the Total Value (i.e. full life cycle cost).

The following procedures apply where there are no other procedures 
which take precedence. Other procedures may include agency 
agreements with government. If in doubt, Officers must seek the advice 
of the Borough Solicitor, Head of Internal Audit & Risk Assurance, or 
Head of Procurement

8.1 Purchasing – Competition Requirements

8.1.1 Where the Total Value for a purchase is within the values in the first 
column below, the Award Procedure in the second column must be 
followed. Shortlisting shall be done by the persons specified in the third 
column.

Total Value 
(excl vat)

Award 
Procedure1

SHORTLISTING 

Less than 
£25,000

Written quotation Section Head

£25,000 less 
than £50,000

Three written 
quotations via the 

Council’s e-
procurement 

solution

 Section Head

£50,000 less 
than £100,000

Three tenders via 
the Council’s e-

procurement 
solution following 

an advertised 
tender process or 
via a compliantly 

let Umbrella 
agreement.

Chief Officer

£100,000 & less 
than EU 

Threshold

  Three tenders 
via the Council’s 
e-procurement 

Chief Officer 

1Contract opportunities above £50,000 and contract awards above £25,000 
must be posted on the South East Business Portal and the Council’s website 
via the Council’s e-procurement solution.



PART 4 – SCHEDULE 13

171

solution following 
an advertised 

tender process or 
via a compliantly 

let Umbrella 
agreement

Greater than EU 
Threshold

Requirements of 
Procurement 
Legislation.

Section Head in 
consultation with the  
Borough Treasurer 
and the Borough 

Solicitor 

8.1.2 Where it can be demonstrated that there are insufficient suitably 
qualified Candidates to meet the competition requirement, all suitably 
qualified Candidates must be invited.

8.1.3 An Officer must not enter into separate contracts nor select a method 
of calculating the Total Value in order to minimise the application of 
these contract procedure rules.

8.2 Assets for Disposal

8.2.1 Assets for disposal may be sent to public auction except where better 
Value for Money is likely to be obtained by inviting Quotations and 
Tenders. (These may be invited by advertising on the Council’s e-
procurement solution.) In the latter event, the method of disposal of 
surplus or obsolete stocks/stores or assets other than land must be 
formally agreed with the Borough Treasurer.

8.3 Providing Services to External Purchasers

8.3.1 The Borough Solicitor and Borough Treasurer must be consulted 
where contracts to provide services or supply goods for organisations 
other than the authority are contemplated.

8.4 Collaborative and Partnership Arrangements

8.4.1 Collaborative and partnership arrangements are subject to all UK and 
EU procurement legislation and must follow these contract procedure 
rules. If in doubt, Officers must seek the advice of the Borough Solicitor  
Head of Internal Audit & Risk Assurance or Head of Procurement.

9. PRE-TENDER MARKET RESEARCH AND
CONSULTATION (includes quotations)

9.1 The Officer responsible for the purchase: 



PART 4 – SCHEDULE 13

172

 may consult potential suppliers prior to the issue of the Invitation to 
Tender in general terms about the nature, level and standard of the 
supply, contract packaging and other relevant matters, provided this 
does not prejudice any potential Candidate, but

 must not seek or accept technical advice on the preparation of an 
Invitation to Tender or Quotation from anyone who may have a 
commercial interest in them, if this may prejudice the equal 
treatment of all potential Candidates or distort competition, and

 should seek advice from the Borough Solicitor  Head of Internal 
Audit & Risk Assurance or Head of Procurement.

10. STANDARDS AND AWARD CRITERIA

10.1 The Officer must ascertain what are the relevant British, European or 
international standards which apply to the subject matter of the 
contract. The Officer must include those standards which are 
necessary properly to describe the required quality. The Borough 
Solicitor  must be consulted if it is proposed to use standards other 
than the relevant British, European or international standards.

10.2 The Officer must define Award Criteria that are appropriate to the 
purchase and designed to secure an outcome giving Value for Money 
(using whole life costing) for the authority. The basic criteria shall be:

 ‘lowest price’ where payment is to be made by the authority

 ‘highest price’ if payment is to be received, or

 ‘most economically advantageous tender’, where considerations 
other than price also apply.  

If the last criterion is adopted, it must be further defined by reference to 
sub-criteria which may refer only to relevant considerations.
These may include price, service, quality of goods, running costs, 
technical merit, previous experience, delivery date, cost effectiveness, 
quality, relevant environmental considerations, aesthetic and functional 
characteristics (including security and control features), safety, after-
sales services, technical assistance and any other relevant
matters.

10.3 Award Criteria must not include:

 Non-commercial Considerations



PART 4 – SCHEDULE 13

173

 matters which discriminate against suppliers from the European 
Economic Area or signatories to the Government Procurement 
Agreement.



PART 4 – SCHEDULE 13

174

11. INVITATIONS TO TENDER (above £50,000)/QUOTATIONS 
(below £50,000)

11.1 The Invitation to Tender shall state that no Tender will be considered 
unless it is received by the date and time stipulated in the Invitation to 
Tender. No Tender delivered in contravention of this clause shall be 
considered.

11.2 All Invitations to Tender shall be advertised and submitted via the 
Council’s e-procurement solution and advertised in accordance with 
Regulations and include the following:

(a) A specification that describes the authority’s requirements 
in sufficient detail to enable the submission of competitive 
offers.

(b) A requirement for tenderers to declare that the Tender 
content, price or any other figure or particulars 
concerning the Tender have not been disclosed by the 
tenderer to any other party (except where such a 
disclosure is made in confidence for a necessary 
purpose).
 

(c) A requirement for tenderers to complete fully and sign all
Tender documents including a form of Tender and 
certificates relating to canvassing and non-collusion.

(d) Notification that Tenders are submitted to the Council on 
the basis that they are compiled at the tenderer’s 
expense.

(e) A description of the Award Procedure and, unless defined
in a prior advertisement, a definition of the Award Criteria
in objective terms and if possible in descending order of
importance.

(f) A stipulation that all Tenders must be submitted     
electronically via the Council’s e-procurement solution 
accessed via South East Business Portal.

(g) The method by which any arithmetical errors discovered 
in the submitted Tenders is to be dealt with. In particular, 
whether the overall price prevails over the rates in the 
Tender or vice versa.

11.3 All Invitations to Tender or Quotations must specify the goods, service 
or works that are required, together with the terms and conditions of 
contract that will apply (see Rule 16).



PART 4 – SCHEDULE 13

175

11.4 The Invitation to Tender or Quotation must state that the Council is not 
bound to accept any Quotation or Tender.

11.5 All Candidates invited to Tender or quote must be issued with the same 
information (as listed in 11.2) at the same time and subject to the same 
conditions. Any supplementary information must be given on the same 
basis. 

12. SHORTLISTING

12.1 Any Shortlisting must have regard to the financial and technical 
standards relevant to the contract and the Award Criteria. Special rules 
apply in respect of the EU Procedure.

12.2 The officers responsible for Shortlisting are specified in Rule 8.1.1.

12.3 Where Approved Lists are used, Shortlisting may be done by the 
Officer in accordance with the Shortlisting criteria drawn up when The 
Approved List was compiled (see Rule 7.2.2). However, where the EU 
Procedure applies, Approved Lists may not be used.

13. SUBMISSION, RECEIPT AND OPENING OF TENDERS 
(above £50,000)/QUOTATIONS (below £50,000)

13.1 Candidates must be given an adequate period in which to prepare and 
submit a proper Quotation or Tender, consistent with the complexity of 
the contract requirement.  At least four weeks should be allowed for 
submission of Tenders. The EU Procedure lays down specific time 
periods (see guidance in the Procurement Guide Guide).

13.2 All Tenders must be returned via the Council’s e-procurement solution 
via the South East Business Portal. 

13.3 The Officer must not disclose the names of Candidates to any staff 
involved in the receipt, custody or opening of Tenders.

13.4 The Procurement Officer shall be responsible for the safekeeping of 
Tenders until the appointed time of opening; these will be held securely 
within the Council’s e-procurement solution until the closing date of the 
Tender submission. The software prevents any access to the Tender 
response before official opening The software provides full auditable 
records of:

 the date and
 precise time it was received
 Date and time of opening and
 Opening Officer



PART 4 – SCHEDULE 13

176

14. CLARIFICATION PROCEDURES AND POST-TENDER
NEGOTIATION

14.1 Providing clarification of an Invitation to Tender to potential or actual 
Candidates or seeking clarification of a Tender is permitted but will be 
done via the Council’s e-procurement solution. However, discussions 
with tenderers after submission of a Tender and before the award of a 
contract with a view to obtaining adjustments in price, delivery or 
content (i.e. post-tender negotiations) must be the exception rather 
than the rule. In particular, they must not be conducted in an EU 
Procedure where this might distort competition; especially with regard 
to price (the process of Competitive Dialogue might be required with a 
short list of tenderers).

14.2 If post-tender negotiations are necessary after a single-stage Tender or 
after the second stage of a two-stage Tender, then such negotiations 
shall only be undertaken with the tenderer who is identified as having 
submitted the best Tender and after all unsuccessful Candidates have 
been informed. During negotiations tendered rates and prices shall 
only be adjusted in respect of a corresponding adjustment in the scope 
or quantity included in the Tender documents. Officers appointed by 
the Chief Officer to carry out post-tender negotiations should ensure 
that there are recorded minutes of all negotiation meetings and that 
both parties agree actions in writing.

14.3 Post-tender negotiation must only be conducted in accordance with the 
guidance issued by the Borough Solicitor who must be consulted 
wherever it is proposed to enter into post-tender negotiation. 
Negotiations must be conducted by a team of at least two Officers, one 
of whom must be from the Procurement Team or a Service 
independent to that leading the negotiations.

14.4 Where post-tender negotiation results in a fundamental change to the 
specification (or contract terms) the contract must not be awarded but 
re-tendered.

15. EVALUATION, AWARD OF CONTRACT, AND 
DEBRIEFING CANDIDATES

15.1 Apart from the debriefing required or permitted by these contract 
procedure rules, the confidentiality of Quotations, Tenders and the 
identity of Candidates must be preserved at all times and information 
about one Candidate’s response must not be given to another 



PART 4 – SCHEDULE 13

177

Candidate.

15.2 Contracts must be evaluated and awarded in accordance with the 
Award Criteria. During this process, Officers shall ensure that 
submitted Tender prices are compared with any pre-tender estimates 
and that any discrepancies are examined and resolved satisfactorily.

15.3 The arithmetic in compliant Tenders must be checked. If arithmetical 
errors are found they should be notified to the tenderer, who should be 
requested to confirm or withdraw their Tender. Alternatively, if the rates 
in the Tender, rather than the overall price, were stated within the 
Tender invitation as being dominant, an amended Tender price may be 
requested to accord with the rates given by the tenderer.

15.4 Officers may accept Quotations and Tenders received in respect of 
proposed contracts, provided they have been sought and evaluated 
fully in accordance with these contract procedure rules and, in respect 
of proposed contracts that are expected to exceed £50,000, the 
approval of the relevant Budget Holder has been secured. The 
awarding of contracts that are expected to exceed the EU Threshold 
may only be awarded by the Policy & Organisation Board.

15.5 Where the Total Value is over the EU Threshold, Procurement 
Legislation must be followed including ensuring notification to all 
Candidates simultaneously and as soon as possible of the intention to 
award the contract to the successful Candidate. The Officer must 
provide unsuccessful Candidates with a period of at least ten days in 
which to challenge the decision before the Officer awards the contract. 
If the decision is challenged by an unsuccessful Candidate then the 
Officer shall not award the contract and shall immediately seek the 
advice of the Borough Solicitor and Head of Procurement.

15.6 The Officer shall debrief in writing all those Candidates who submitted 
a bid about the characteristics and relative advantages of the leading 
bidder via the Council’s e-procurement system. No information, other 
than the following, should be given without taking the advice of the 
Borough Solicitor or Head of Procurement:

 how the Award Criteria were applied

 the prices or range of prices submitted, in either case not
correlated to Candidates’ names

 the names of Candidates where there were three or more
Candidates.

15.7 If a Candidate requests in writing the reasons for a Contracting 
Decision, the Officer must give the reasons in writing within 15 days of 
the request. If requested, the Officer may also give the debriefing 



PART 4 – SCHEDULE 13

178

information at Rule 15.6 above to Candidates who were deselected in 
a pre-tender Shortlisting process.



PART 4 – SCHEDULE 13

179

SECTION 4

CONTRACT AND OTHER FORMALITIES

16. CONTRACT DOCUMENTS

16.1 Relevant Contracts

16.1.1 All Relevant Contracts shall be in writing in the approved format and 
signed by the Borough Solicitor

1.1 All Contracts:
 Contract documents must be stored on the council's e-

procurement Solution.
 Contract managers (and others closely involved in managing 

contracts) must have read and understood the contract 
documents.

 Contract Managers must check that valid insurance documents 
are provided by Contractors, proving that the annual premium 
has been paid, to cover the duration of the Contract, and that 
copies are stored on the council's e-procurement solution.

16.1.2 All Relevant Contracts, shall clearly specify:

 what is to be supplied (i.e. the works, materials, services, 
matters or things to be furnished, had or done)

 the provisions for payment (i.e. the price to be paid and when)

 the time, or times, within which the contract is to be performed

 the provisions for the Council to terminate the contract.

16.1.3 The Council’s order form or standard terms and conditions issued 
by a relevant professional body must be used wherever possible.

16.1.4 In addition, every Relevant Contract or purchase must also state 
clearly as a minimum:

 that the contractor may not assign or sub-contract without prior 
written consent

 any insurance requirements



PART 4 – SCHEDULE 13

180

 health and safety requirements

 ombudsman requirements

 the contractor meets the Council’s equality requirements and 
operates in accordance with the current Equality Legislation.

 Freedom of Information Act requirements

 where Agents are used to let contracts, that Agents must comply 
with the Council’s contract procedure rules

 a right of access to relevant documentation and records of the 
contractor for monitoring and audit purposes, if relevant.

 Data Protection requirements, if relevant

 that charter standards are to be met, if relevant

16.1.5 The formal advice of the Borough Solicitor must be sought for the 
following contracts:

 where the Total Value exceeds £25,000;

 those involving leasing arrangements;

 where it is proposed to use a supplier's own terms.

16.2 Contract Formalities

16.2.1 Agreements shall be completed as follows:

Total Value Method of 
completion

By

Up to £50,000 

Above £50,000 
(also see16.3.3 
below)

Signature

Sealing

See Council 
Constitution 
Part 3 
Schedule 10 
(Appendix 1)2 

(As above)

Total Value Method of Completion By

2 Official orders can be signed by Chief Officers



PART 4 – SCHEDULE 13

181

16.2.2 All contracts must be concluded formally in writing before the 
supply, service or construction work begins, except in exceptional 
circumstances, and then only with the written consent of the  
Borough Treasurer. An award letter is insufficient.

16.2.3 The Officer responsible for securing signature of the contract (in 
accordance with these rules) must ensure that the person signing 
for the other contracting party has authority to bind it.



PART 4 – SCHEDULE 13

182

16.3 Sealing

16.3.1 Where contracts are sealed the Council’s seal, must be witnessed 
in accordance with the Constitution.

16.3.2 Every Council sealing will be consecutively numbered, recorded 
and signed by the person witnessing the seal in line with Part 3 
Schedule 10 (Appendix 1) of the Council’s Constitution.

16.3.3 A contract must be sealed where:

 the Council may wish to enforce the contract more than six years 
after its end 

 the price paid or received under the contract is a nominal
price and does not reflect the value of the goods or services

 there is any doubt about the authority of the person
signing for the other contracting party, or

 the Total Value exceeds £50,000.

17.  BONDS AND PARENT COMPANY GUARANTEES

17.1 The Officer must consult the Borough Treasurer about whether a 
Parent Company Guarantee is necessary when a Candidate is a 
subsidiary of a parent company and:

 the Total Value exceeds £100,000, or

 award is based on evaluation of the parent company, or

 there is some concern about the stability of the Candidate.

17.2 The Officer must consult the Borough Treasurer about whether a 
Bond is needed:

 where the Total Value exceeds £1,000,000, or
 where it is proposed to make stage or other payments in 
      advance of receiving the whole of the subject matter of the 
      contract and there is concern about the stability of the 
      Candidate.



PART 4 – SCHEDULE 13

183

18. PREVENTION OF CORRUPTION

18.1 The Officer must comply with the Code of Conduct and must not invite 
or accept any gift or reward in respect of the award or performance of 
any contract. It will be for the Officer to prove that anything received 
was not received corruptly. High standards of conduct are obligatory. 
Corrupt behaviour will lead to dismissal and is a crime under the 
statutes referred to in Rule 18.2 below.

18.2 The following clause must be put in every written Council contract:

“The Council may terminate this contract and recover all its loss if the 
Contractor, its employees or anyone acting on the Contractor’s behalf 
do or collude in any of the following things:

(a) offer, give or agree to give to anyone any inducement or 
reward in respect of this or any other Council contract (even if 
the Contractor does not know what has been done), or

(b) commit an offence under the Prevention of Corruption Acts
1889 to 1916 or Section 117(2) of the Local Government Act
1972, or

(c) commit any fraud in connection with this or any other Council
contract whether alone or in conjunction with Council
members, contractors or employees.

Any clause limiting the Contractor’s liability shall not apply to this
clause.”

19. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS

19.1 If it comes to the knowledge of a member or an employee of the 
authority that a contract in which he or she has a personal and/or 
disclosable pecuniary interest has been or is proposed to be entered 
into by the Council, he or she shall immediately give written notice to 
the Borough Solicitor who shall report such declarations to the 
appropriate Board.

19.2 A shareholding in a body not exceeding a total nominal value of £1,000 
or 1% of the nominal value of the issued share capital (whichever is the 
less) is not required to be declared for the purposes of this standing 
order.

19.3 The Borough Solicitor shall maintain a record of all declarations of 
interests notified by members and Officers.



PART 4 – SCHEDULE 13

184

SECTION 5 

CONTRACT MANAGEMENT

20. MANAGING CONTRACTS

20.1 Chief Officers in the sponsoring departments are to name contract 
managers for all new contracts. All contracts must have a named 
Council contract manager for the entirety of the contract.

20.2 Contract managers must follow the procedures set out in the Council’s 
Procurement Guide and all contracts must be logged onto a contract 
register held on the Council’s e-procurement solution administered by 
the Procurement Section in the Financial Services Unit.

21. RISK ASSESSMENT AND CONTINGENCY PLANNING
21.1 A business case must be prepared for all procurements . Provision for 

resources for the management of the contract, for its entirety, must be 
identified in the business case. 

21.2 For all contracts with a value of over £50,000, contract managers must:
 maintain a risk register during the contract period
 undertake appropriate risk assessments and for identified risks
 ensure contingency measures are in place.

22. CONTRACT MONITORING, EVALUATION AND REVIEW

22.1 All contracts which have a value higher than the £50,000, or which are 
High Risk, are to be subject to monthly formal review with the 
contractor. The review may be conducted quarterly if permitted by the 
Chairman of the Corporate Risk Management Group.

22.2 For all contracts with a value higher than the EU Threshold limits, or 
which are High Risk, an annual report must be submitted to the 
Council’s Management Team.

22.3 A Council-developed Gateway review process must be applied to all 
contracts  deemed to be High Risk, High Value, or High Profile. This 
process must be applied at key stages of major procurements. 

22.4 During the life of the contract, the Officer must monitor in respect of:
 performance
 compliance with specification and contract cost
 any Value for Money requirements
 user satisfaction and risk management.
 Compliance with the Council’s equality monitoring arrangements 

(as stated in the contract) and with current equality legislation 



PART 4 – SCHEDULE 13

185

annually.

22.5 Where the Total Value of the contract exceeds £100,000, the Officer 
must make a written report to the relevant Budget Holder evaluating 
the extent to which the purchasing need and the contract objectives (as 
determined in accordance with Rule 5.2) were met by the contract. This 
should be done normally when the contract is completed. Where the 
contract is to be re-let, a provisional report should also be available 
early enough to inform the approach to reletting of the subsequent 
contract.



Community Board
11 September 2019

1

A MEETING OF THE COMMUNITY BOARD
WAS HELD ON 11 SEPTEMBER 2019

Councillors Mrs Batty, Blackman (Substituting for Jessop), Burgess, Casey, Earle, Farr, 
Mrs Furlong (Substituting for Murphy), Hammond, Mrs Hook, Hook (Substituting for Mrs 
Morgan) Mrs Huggins, Hutchison, Hylands, Mitchell and Westerby

PART II

14. GOSPORT BOROUGH COUNCIL TREE POLICY 

Consideration was given to a report of the Head of Streetscene seeking  approval of the 
Council’s Tree Policy to ensure that Gosport Borough Council provides an effective and 
consistent approach to its Arboricultural Services.

The Board was advised that this was a revision to the existing policy. 

Members felt that at the next review of the policy, consideration could be given to 
simplifying it and using more simple language. 

In answer to a Member’s question, the Board was advised that the existing pollarding 
routine that was scheduled for the Cemetery and Southcroft Road would continue and 
occur every 5/6 years. 

A Member raised an issue with a treeline along Heritage Way being too low for cyclists, the 
Board was advised that there were set heights that should be adhered to and if the trees 
overhung the public highway to contact Hampshire County Council. 

RESOLVED:  That the board approve the revision of the Council’s Tree Policy (Appendix A 
of the report).
. 

15. CLIMATE CHANGE - TREE PLANTING SCHEMES 

Consideration was given to a report of the Head of Streetscene seeking approval of the 
proposed tree planting schemes for Cherque Way and Grange Lane, to assist the council in 
mitigating against climate change and increase the tree canopy cover within the borough to 
assist with carbon reduction.

In answer to a Member’s question, the Board was advised that the species chosen were 
chosen to be most suitable for the areas under consideration for additional planting. 

The Board was advised that there were already 30000 trees within the Borough and 
welcomed that additional planting was being considered, particularly in a Borough which 
was 72% built on. 

Members were advised that the public and community groups would be invited to support 
the scheme and contribute towards the planting of trees, through sponsorship and potential 
applications for external funding and or providers. 

Agenda Item 7



Community Board
11 September 2019

2

The Leader of the Council advised that he would like the Council to commit to facilitating 
the planting of 1000 trees in 1000 days and that the community should be engaged with to 
support and promote the initiative. The Board was advised that it would cost between £172-
£200 for sponsorship of a tree, as this would cover all the associated costs. 

In answer to a Member’s question, the Board was advised that the planting of evergreen 
trees was less effective in offsetting carbon. 

It was proposed and seconded that the recommendation be amended to include that the 
Council were committed to planting 1000 trees in 1000 days with the support of the wider 
community and youth groups. 

It was clarified that the Council could approve planting on Gosport Borough Council land, 
but not land that was private or owned by Hampshire County Council. 

RESOLVED: That the board  approve the proposed tree planting scheme for Cherque Way 
to provide screening between Cherque Way and the new play area at the entrance to Alver 
Valley Country Park. That the board also approve the proposed tree planting scheme for 
Grange Lane to soften the landscape and create a natural wildlife corridor along the former 
sports field boundary with Grange Junior School  allowing the council to continue its 
commitment in mitigating against Climate Change and that the Council commit to planting 
1000 trees in 1000 days with engagement with the local community and youth groups. 

16. GOSPORT BOROUGH COUNCIL ENVIRONMENTAL IMPROVEMENTS 

Consideration was given to a report of the Head of Streetscene seeking approval to support 
environmental improvement projects throughout the Borough. 

In answer to a Member’s question the Board was advised that new legislation meant that 
any adult equipment needed to be located further away to equipment for young people than 
it was currently located in Walpole Park to protect them from injury and that investigations 
could be made in to equipment suitable for those with additional needs. 

In answer to a Member’s question, the Board was advised that further details would be 
added to the schemes if they were approved.

Members expressed a desire for improvements to other areas, particularly Kings Road, 
following recent vandalism in which the surface had been destroyed and welcomed that the 
potential for the toilets at the replacement facility in Nobes Avenue to be open to the public 
was being investigated. 

Members offered suggestions for a facility in Priddy’s Hard and it was also confirmed that 
the estimated cost for Nobes Avenue facility was set so as not to underestimate the 
potential cost and therefore ensure there was sufficient funds to pay for it. 

The Board was advised that it was important to consider the overall cost of the Nobes 
Avenue project, including any demolition and waste disposal and were advised that 
maintenance of all of the sites for play equipment formed part of a 3 year rolling 
programme. 



Community Board
11 September 2019

3

Members expressed disappointment at the cost of repairing incidents of vandalism at sites 
and it was suggested that the public be advised of the significant costs incurred when 
vandalism occurred. 

Members also requested that consideration be given to the installation of showers at sites 
such as Alver Lake and Stokes Bay to enhance water sport facilities. 

RESOLVED: That the board supports the inclusion of the projects outlined in this report 
within the draft capital programme for 2020-21 to 2022-23, to be considered by Policy and 
Organisation board and full Council as part of the 2020-21 budget setting process.

17. ANY OTHER ITEMS 

There were none. 

CHAIRMAN

Concluded at 6.45 pm



This page is intentionally left blank



Economic Development Board
18 September 2019

1

A MEETING OF THE ECONOMIC DEVELOPMENT BOARD
WAS HELD ON 18 SEPTEMBER 2019

Councillors Bateman, Blackman, Burgess (Substituting for Beavis), Carter, Mrs Cully, Earle 
(Substituting for Pepper), Mrs Furlong, Hammond (Substituting for Ms Ballard), Hook 
(Substituting for Raffaelli) Mrs Huggins, Hutchison, Johnston, Miss Kelly and Philpott

PART II 

21. GOSPORT COMMUNITY LOTTERY EVALUATION 

Consideration was given to a report providing Members with information as an evaluation in 
respect of the Gosport  Community Lottery. 

Some Members expressed concern that they felt the lottery encouraged gambling and did 
not support it, but acknowledged that funds had been raised for charities. 

Some Members congratulated GVA on the successful anniversary of the lottery running and 
welcomed that the money raised went to charity. Members particularly welcomed that the 
charity to support could be chosen by the lottery player and that this was a different 
experience to other forms of gambling. 

A Member questioned the process of the distribution of the funds from the lottery and stated 
that it had been initially agreed that a group comprising the political group leaders would 
make the decision. 

The Board was advised that it was not resolved that the political group leaders be party to 
the award of funds, but that they would consider the process of the allocation of the awards. 
It was requested  that a further update be provided as to why this had not taken place. 

It was confirmed that GVA met twice yearly to consider applications and distribute awards. 

Members were advised that the application process to register as a good cause was well 
publicised and simple to access. 

It was felt that the lottery was optional to play and allowed the public to support local 
charities. In addition, the Gosport lottery was an online process that did not provide an 
illegal activity and that people with gambling addicitions would play other lotteries if the 
Gosport Lottery was not available. 

Some Members felt that provision should be made to ensure that the public did not overplay 
the lottery and that a greater responsibility should be taken to protect those with addiction 
problems, particularly as players received reminders about signing up to play. 

22. SURRENDER OF EXISTING LEASE AND REGRANT OF NEW LEASE OF 
LAKESIDE CAFÉ, COMPASS POINT 



Economic Development Board
18 September 2019

2

Consideration was given to a report of the Property Services Manager seeking the Board’s 
approval to accept the surrender of the current lease and grant a new lease to the new 
owner of the Lakeside Café based at the Compass Point, Walpole Park, Gosport.

Members welcomed the café and support for it as Walpole Park was essential to the Town 
Centre and supporting the businesses in it was essential. 

The Board was advised that as landlords the Council were responsible for the maintenance 
of the external elements of the building, the including the walkway and the balcony and that 
the Council had spent approximately £17000 on maintenance of the building. 

Members recognised that the business would be further enhanced by the recently approved 
installation of additional equipment to Walpole Park.

Members welcomed that the Council had invested in the building and provided a top class 
facility for the model yacht club. 

In answer to a Member’s question, the Board was advised that it was not believed that 
there was any outstanding rent, but that this could be checked and clarified. 

Members also welcomed the potential to enhance the night time economy and that the café 
was popular, the Board also welcomed the opportunity to look at other concessions for 
activities for the area. 

RESOLVED: That the Board’s approves the surrender of the current lease and grant a new 
lease to the new owner of the Lakeside Café based at the Compass Point, Walpole Park, 
Gosport

23. LAND AT GRANGE FARM, ROWNER FOR GARDEN CENTRE DEVELOPMENT & 
GATEWAY 

Consideration was given to a report detailing the long leasehold disposal of land at Home 
Heath. 

Members welcomed the proposal and the benefit it would bring to the area. Members 
welcomed the inclusion of a garden centre and associated facilities and welcomed the 
improvements to the 17th Century village. 

RESOLVED:  that the Economic Development Board agree:

1. The long leasehold disposal of approx. 5.70 acres of land outlined red on the plan at 
Appendix A of this report in lieu of the approx 5 acres recommended for disposal at 
Appendix A  of the September 2018 Report (attached herewith at Appendix B).  

2. To authorise the Chief Executive Officer to enter into a Deed of Variation with the 
Defence Infrastructure Organisation (DIO), to vary the wording of the existing restrictive 
covenant affecting the site to permit the site to be used as a retail garden centre and 
Gateway into the Alver Valley Country Park.

24. ANY OTHER ITEMS 



Economic Development Board
18 September 2019

3

The Board was advised that the Gosport had been one of 69 towns across England to 
receive an in principle agreement to host a High Street Heritage Action Zone. 

Members requested that their thanks be recorded to the Economic Development Manager 
for his work in securing the award of funding 

CHAIRMAN

Concluded at 6.48 pm



This page is intentionally left blank



Policy and Organisation Board
25 September 2019

1

A MEETING OF THE POLICY AND ORGANISATION BOARD
WAS HELD ON 25 SEPTEMBER 2019

 

Councillors Bateman, Burgess, Carter, Chegwyn, Mrs Cully, Foster-Reed, Herridge, Hook, 
Hylands, Jessop, Murphy, Pepper and Philpott

PART II 

22. CITIZENS ADVICE GOSPORT PRESENTATION 

A presentation was given on the work of Citizen Advice Gosport  advising the Board of the 
projects undertaken within the last year. 

Members thanked CAG Officers for their hard work and commended the work and value 
they provided to the Borough.

ANY OTHER ITEMS 
There were none.

CHAIRMAN

Concluded at 6.58 pm



This page is intentionally left blank



GOSPORT BOROUGH COUNCIL

BOARD: COUNCIL

DATE OF MEETING: 9 OCTOBER 2019

TITLE: FEES AND CHARGES

AUTHOR: BOROUGH TREASURER

STATUS: FOR APPROVAL

Purpose

To consider and approve the amended fees & charges contained in this report 
and appendix.

Recommendation

That the Council approve the fees and charges referred to in the report and 
appendix for implementation from 1 January 2020 unless stated otherwise.

1.0 Background

1.1 Fees and charges were last reviewed and updated at the Council 
meeting in October 2018.

2.0 Report

2.1 Fees and charges are an important source of revenue that are largely 
within the Council’s control and reduce the burden falling on the 
general fund and council tax payers.

2.2 A fees and charges review has been undertaken as part of the budget 
process for 2020/21.  The vast majority of Council charges for 2020 
have been maintained at 2019 levels; an assumption made in the 
Council’s 2019/20 Medium Term Financial Strategy. As such there is 
no impact on the Council’s projected revenue position for financial year 
2020/21.

2.3 The proposed fees and charges are set out in the appendix to this 
report.  There are some minor additions to the charging schedule for 
2020 as detailed below:

Agenda Item 8



2

 There are new charges associated with the licensing of animal 
related business as a consequence of the Animal Activity 
Licensing Regulations 2018.  These came into force in 
November 2018 and have introduced the requirement for new 
licenses for activities such as setting up Dog Boarding, 
Catteries, hiring out horses and selling animals as pets etc.  
These new charges reflect these new Government regulations; 

 The schedule also reflects the proposed changes to the 
Abandoned Shopping Trolley Policy for the collection, storage 
and / or disposal of shopping trolleys; 

 Slight increases to charges relating to the removal of unwanted 
vehicles and / or caravans, reflecting recent increases in 
charges from Hampshire County Council; and

 There is a new charge for 2020, that the Council intends to apply 
to insurance companies that seek to use CCTV footage from the 
Council’s CCTV assets.

3.0 Risk Assessment

3.1 There is a risk to future service provision and the delivery of capital 
programme projects if the Council does not seek to maintain an 
appropriate level of income by reviewing its fees and charges.

4.0 Conclusion

4.1 Fees and Charges have been reviewed and the draft amended 
schedule is appended to this report. 

Financial Implications As set out in the report
Legal Implications The Council has power to 

charge for the services set out 
in this report.

Crime and Disorder N/A

Equality and Diversity N/A

Service Improvement Plan N/A

Corporate Plan: N/A
Risk Assessment: Section 3 of the report
Background papers: N/A
Appendix Draft Fees and Charges booklet

Lead Officer Jonathan Ware



1

GOSPORT
BOROUGH COUNCIL

Fees and Charges

2020

Fees and charges are effective from 1st January 2020 unless otherwise stated



2

VAT FOREWORD

1 All charges include VAT where applicable. The VAT Code is per the list below.
S – Standard rate  
O – Non business  
E – Exempt
Z – Zero rated
The Standard Rated VAT charge changed from the 1st January 2011 to a rate of 20.0%. 

2 All charges are effective from 1st January 2019 unless otherwise stated

VAT -  LICENCES TO OCCUPY LAND; LETTING OF SPORTS FACILITIES

Exemption from VAT may be applicable under the following circumstances:

A Single lets
Each single let is for a continuous period of over 24 hours to the same person, the person to
whom they are let having exclusive control of the facilities throughout the let.

OR

B Series of Lets

All of the following criteria must be satisfied before exemption can apply:

The series consists of 10 or more individual sessions of the same sport or activity, each session
being in the same place, and the interval between each session is at least a day and not more
than 14 days

The series is to be paid for as a whole, and there is clear evidence of this, whether or not the
right to use the facility for any specific session is actually exercised, a formal agreement,
exchange of letters, or an invoice issued in advance requiring payment for the sessions specified
on the invoice would be sufficient evidence.

Refund for the non-availability of the facility by the Council would not invalidate this condition but
provision for a refund in other circumstances would; and the facilities are let out to a school, club,
association or organisation representing affiliated clubs or constituent associations; and the
person to whom the facilities are let has exclusive use of them during the sessions.

It is not necessary to book the same pitch to qualify for exemption, provided it is within the same
recreation ground. Any further bookings in addition to those specified in the formal agreement will
be standard-rated and subject to VAT.

VAT on Organised School Visits

The letting of facilities to a local education authority school falls within these rules of exemption
and is not outside the scope of VAT under the provisions of the Local Authorities (Goods and
Services) Act 1970.

ABANDONED / UNWANTED VEHICLES & SHOPPING TROLLEYS
£ VAT 2020

Abandoned Shopping Trolleys (** indicates new fee structure assuming approval of revised Policy)

Daily storage of Shopping Trolley ** S 5.00 new

Charge for collection, return or disposal of Shopping Trolley ** S 50.00 new
(total costs of £310 for collection, storage and disposal and return of Trolleys for 42 days)

Removal of Unwanted Vehicles (increase reflects additional cost charged under HCC contract) 80.00 S 85.00 6.3%

Removal of Commercial Vehicles At Cost S At Cost

Removal of Caravans and Trailers (increase reflects additional cost charged under HCC contract) 150.00 S 160.00 6.7%

Storage of Unwanted Vehicle - per day 25.00 S 25.00 0.0%

Statutory Charges for Abandoned Vehicles - Example
Removal of Abandoned Vehicle (Table 1 Regulation 4 - 2.2) 150.00 O Statutory
Storage of Abandoned Vehicle - per day  (Table 2 Regulation 5 - 2.2) 20.00 O Statutory

Fee type: Statutory - Removal, Storage & Disposal of Vehicle (Prescribed Sums & Charges) Regulations
2008 as amended.
A full schedule of charges for each different vehicle type can be found at the Office of Public Sector Information Website www.opsi.gov.uk.



3

ALLOTMENTS 2019 2020 VAT 2021
Fee Fee

£ £

Annual charge per square rod (1 square rod is 25.2929 square metres) £5.82 £6.32 O 6.32 0.0%
Annual charge per square metre £0.23 £0.25 O 0.25 0.0%

Deposit (refundable) 25.00 50.00 O 50.00 0.0%

BEACH HUT RENTAL - GOSPORT RESIDENTS ONLY
£ VAT 2020

Annual Charge Full Rate 900.00 S 900.00 0.0%
Other Concessions (Over 60's) 675.00 S 675.00 0.0%
Disabled 600.00 S 600.00 0.0%

Weekly Charge Disabled Residents only 20.00 S 20.00 0.0%
One hut is available for weekly hire at Stokes Bay.

BEACH HUT SITE RENTAL - GOSPORT RESIDENTS ONLY

Annual Charge Full Rate 450.00 S 450.00 0.0%
Other Concessions (Over 60's) 337.50 S 337.50 0.0%
Disabled 300.00 S 300.00 0.0%

The site rental is for the last 3 remaining private beach huts at Lee on the Solent

CAR PARKS
£ VAT 2020

PAY AND DISPLAY CHARGES

Mumby Road (Bus Station)
Per hour 1.10 S 1.10 0.0%
Over 5 hours (per day) 7.00 S 7.00 0.0%

Trailers and Parking Permits (other than Medical Permits) are not allowed

Long Stay (Town Centre, Lee-on-Solent, Stokes Bay, Hardway Slipway and Alver Valley)
Per hour 1.00 S 1.00 0.0%
Over 5 hours (per day) 6.00 S 6.00 0.0%

Two Hour Car Parks (Town Centre and Lee-on-Solent)
30 Minutes (Coates Road Car Park only) 0.40 S 0.40 0.0%
First hour 0.60 S 0.60 0.0%
Up to 2 hours 1.00 S 1.00 0.0%

Trailers and Parking Permits (other than Medical Permits) are not allowed

Three Hour Car Park (Lee-on-Solent)
Per hour Marine Parade No 1 & 2 0.90 S 0.90 0.0%

Trailers (where permitted) - same charge as motor vehicle.

Coaches - per hour Only permitted in prescribed car parks 5.00 S 5.00 0.0%

Motorcycles Free Free

Commercial Vehicles (over 3.5 tonnes GVW) parked in Mumby Road Lorry Park Free Free

Motor Homes (in Motor Homes bays)
Per hour 2.00 S 2.00 0.0%
Per day 10.00 S 10.00 0.0%

Parking Charge Notices Payment within 7days 50.00 N 50.00 0.0%
Payment after 7 days 70.00 N 70.00 0.0%



4

PERMITS

General Public
Annual Permit 480.00 S 480.00 0.0%
6 Month Permit 280.00 S 280.00 0.0%
3 Month Permit 145.00 S 145.00 0.0%
1 Month Permit 50.00 S 50.00 0.0%

Gosport & Lee Town Centre Residents Permits 80.00 S 80.00 0.0%
Available only to residents living in specific areas of the town centres and for use in the specified only
long stay car parks only

Medical (Local Surgeries) 10.00 S 10.00 0.0%

Leisure (includes Seafront and Alver Valley, excluding Motor Homes) 80.00 S 80.00 0.0%
Leisure - Motor Homes 280.00 S 280.00 0.0%

Notes
1. All drivers of vehicles with a trailer will be responsible for the payment of the trailer charge.

ANN'S HILL CEMETERY
£ VAT 2020

EXCLUSIVE RIGHTS OF BURIAL IN EARTHEN GRAVES** - GOSPORT RESIDENT

Provision of new grave (Post 01/04/1992) - obligatory 700.00 O 700.00 0.0%
Interment into Existing Site (Pre 01/04/1992) - obligatory 150.00 O 150.00 0.0%
Provision of a Cremated Remains Plot (Post 01/04/1992) - obligatory 150.00 O 150.00 0.0%
Provision of Grave for child No Charge No Charge

INTERMENTS

The fees for interment include the digging of the grave to a depth
sufficient for two interments and re-turfing after burial.

For the Interment
(i) of the body of a still born child, or of a child whose age at the time of death No Charge
did not exceed 16 years

(ii) of the body of a person whose age at the time of death exceeded 16 years 550.00 O 550.00 0.0%

For any interment in a walled grave or vault At Cost O At Cost

Interment - Cremated Remains 175.00 O 175.00 0.0%
(subject to depth not exceeding 91.4cm (3ft) otherwise normal
interment charge will apply, no charge for a child)

MONUMENTS, GRAVESTONES, TABLETS AND MONUMENTAL INSCRIPTIONS

For the right to erect or place on a grave or vault a headstone not exceeding 91.4cm (3ft) in height 
by 91.4cm (3ft) in width by 30.4cm (1ft) in depth or 76.2cm (2ft 6in) x 60.9cm (2ft) x 30.4cm (1ft)

Adult 150.00 O 150.00 0.0%
Child No Charge No Charge

For the right to erect or place on a grave or vault in respect of which the exclusive
right of burial has been granted - kerbstones or flatstones

(a) enclosing a space not exceeding 2.1m by 91.4cm (7ft by 3ft) 180.00 O 180.00 0.0%
(b) enclosing a space not exceeding 2.1m by 1.8m (7ft by 6ft) 350.00 O 350.00 0.0%
(c) tablets not exceeding 350mm x 450mm x 25mm 45.00 O 45.00 0.0%

The fees indicated in this section include the first inscription.
For each inscription after the first a fee is payable 29.00 O 29.00 0.0%

Annual Maintenance
Trimming Grass 65.00 O 65.00 0.0%
Planting and Trimming Grass 85.00 O 85.00 0.0%
Planting (Spring and Summer only) 75.00 O 75.00 0.0%

Miscellaneous Items
Transfer of Grant of Right 80.00 O 80.00 0.0%
Temporary Marker 30.00 O 30.00 0.0%
Search in Burial Register (per burial entry) 10.00 O 10.00 0.0%
Certificate of Burial 18.00 O 18.00 0.0%
Use of Chapel 110.00 O 110.00 0.0%
Exhumations At Cost S At Cost



5

Notes
** The fees indicated above include the Deed of Grant and all the expenses thereof
Non-resident fees on application
Imperial to metric conversions are approximate

DOG CONTROL
£ VAT 2020

Collection of stray dog - Statutory charge per dog 25.00 O 25.00 Statutory
Kennelling fees up to 7 days 110.00 O 110.00 0.0%
Microchipping of dogs per dog 10.00 S 10.00 0.0%

each additional dog at the same address 5.00 S 5.00 0.0%
Private home check visit 32.00 S 32.00 0.0%
Dog Bags per packet of 60 2.75 S 2.75 0.0%

Notes

1. Statutory charge is as per the 'Environmental Protection (Stray Dog) Regulations 1992'
and is payable before the dog is released.
2. Additional fees may be charged for costs incurred by the Council including legal fees
incurred due to non-payment.

ELECTORAL SERVICES

REGISTRATION OF ELECTORS (STATUTORY)

Item Data Printed

Sale of Open/Edited
Register

£20 plus £1.50 per
thousand entries (or part)

£10 plus £5.00 per thousand
entries (or part)

Z
No change

Sale of Full Register*
£20 plus £1.50 per
thousand entries (or part)

£10 plus £5.00 per thousand
entries (or part)

Z
No change

Sale of monthly
update notices*

£20 plus £1.50 per
thousand entries (or part)

£10 plus £5.00 per thousand
entries (or part)

Z
No change

Sale of list of
Overseas Electors

£20 plus £1.50 per
hundred entries (or part)

£10 plus £5.00 per hundred
entries (or part)

Z
No change

Sale of Marked
Register*

Where available
£10 plus £1.00 per
thousand entries (or part)

£10 plus £2.00 per thousand
entries (or part)

Z
No change

Notes:
1.  Supply of the Full Register, monthly update notices and the marked register is restricted by the
Representation of the People Regulations.

2.  Packing and carriage costs will also apply where relevant.
3.  A request for the same part of the register in both printed and data form will be treated as two separate
requests.

Election Staff Fees
Returning Officer's fees and disbursements, Polling Station staff and Count Staff: as determined by
Hampshire Election Fees Working Party; available on request from the Head of Electoral Services.

ENVIRONMENTAL HEALTH SERVICES
£ VAT 2020

Food Premises Register
Single Entry 2.25 S 2.25 0.0%
Single Premises category, e.g. butchers 55.00 S 55.00 0.0%
Whole Register 235.00 S 235.00 0.0%
Export Certificate Fee 50.00 S 50.00 0.0%

LAPC/IPPC Register enquiries (authorised industrial processes) 42.00 O 42.00 0.0%

Immigration Service Assessment of Premises Condition 85.00 S 85.00 0.0%



6

House in Multiple Occupation Licence Fee on Fee on grant
Application of Licence

5 persons 500.00 300.00 800.00 O no change
6-10 persons 650.00 350.00 1,000.00 O no change

11-15 persons 800.00 400.00 1,200.00 O no change
16-20 persons 900.00 500.00 1,400.00 O no change

Over 20 persons 1,000.00 600.00 1,600.00 O no change

Housing Act 2004 Notices Actual cost
Private Water Supplies work Actual cost

GARAGES
£ VAT 2020

Existing garages Per week Housing Report 2020 O #
New garages Per week Housing Report 2020 O #
# above charges are for Council tenants - if garage is let to private client then vat is chargeable 

Notes
Charges to be reviewed as part of the Council budget in January / February 2020

HOUSING
£ VAT 2020

Copy of highlighted plans, dwelling account enquiries, prospective private purchaser 67.00 O 67.00 0.0%
enquiries (Solicitor, mortgage lender and/or owner occupier of former Council property)

Prior/Retrospective permissions for alterations    28.00 O 28.00 0.0%
(Solicitor, and/or owner occupier of former Council property)

Notice of Sublet of leasehold property 17.00 O 17.00 0.0%
(Solicitor, and/or owner occupier of former Council property)

Registration of Notice of Transfer Assignment underlease  6.00 O 6.00 0.0%
Notice of Charge (charges as stated in lease) 27.00 O 27.00 0.0%

Rent Account/debt reference   28.00 O 28.00 0.0%
(Mortgage provider/Loan companies)

Replacement dwelling keys to communal entrances  9.00 S 9.00 0.0%
(residents of the block of flats only – no third parties)

LAND CHARGES
£ VAT 2020

For searches sent electronically via Email, our online application or through the NLIS Hub

Con29R 127.20 S 127.20 0.0%
LLC1 26.00 O 26.00 0.0%
Basic Search Fee (Con29R plus LLC1) 153.20 153.20 0.0%

For searches sent in paper form via DX or post

Con29R 148.80 S 148.80 0.0%
LLC1 30.00 O 30.00 0.0%
Basic Search Fee (Con29R plus LLC1) 178.80 178.80 0.0%

Extra parcel fee LLC1 only 2.00 O 2.00 0.0%
Extra parcel fee Con29R 12.00 S 12.00 0.0%

Part 2 optional enquiries 8.40 S 8.40 0.0%
Additional enquiries 8.40 S 8.40 0.0%
For a search in any individual part of the Register
In Parts 1,2,3,4 and 10 5.00 O 5.00 0.0%
In all other parts 2.00 O 2.00 0.0%

Personal Searches Free Free



7

Notes
The above are currently the maximum charges that will be collected. In accordance with the relevant
Regulations, the charges are based on cost recovery and will be reviewed throughout the year. They may
therefore increase or decrease as time spent on them and search volumes fluctuate.

HMRC determined that from 1st January 2017 the fee charged for CON29 enquiries, Part 2 optional
enquiries and additional enquiries are subject to VAT at the standard rate.

LETTING OF LAND

£ VAT £ £ VAT 2020
USE OF COUNCIL LEISURE LAND

Damage Land Hire Land Hire
For events up to 2,500 persons - per day Deposit Deposit Per day

Commercial (note 1) 660.00 O 163.00 660.00 E no change
Not For Profit (note 7) 125.00 O 0.00 0.00 E no change

For events above 2,500 persons - per day

Commercial (note 1) 1,310.00 O 325.00 1,310.00 E no change
Not For Profit (note 7) 250.00 O 0.00 0.00 no change

Temporary Demountable Structures (TDS) 

Where a Temporary Demountable Structure is used, the following Building Control fees are payable

Commercial Professional Circuses 105.00 S 105.00 0.0%
Other commercial events with TDS over 15m square 262.50 S 262.50 0.0%

Not for Profit No charge 0.00 No charge

Camping Caravan/Motor home per night 10.50 S 10.50 0.0%
Tent per night 6.00 S 6.00 0.0%

Trailer (with Boat) 5.00 S 5.00 0.0%

Notes
1. Price includes access to water. Electricity is available on request at a number of locations.
2. Damage deposits are refundable after any works and land reinstatement costs incurred by the Council
    have been deducted.
3. Other relevant sites by negotiation with the Projects Officer
4. Charges for casual lettings of land are generally exempt from VAT unless a specific option to tax has
    been exercised on the land in question. In the latter case, where the letting is for charitable purposes
    VAT would not apply.
5. Hirers of 2 days or more will be granted (if required) set-up and breakdown days of 1 day
    for each day hired.
6. Bookings will be taken between 1st April and 31st October subject to land conditions, 
    for enquires outside of these dates contact the Projects Officer
7. Not For Profit Hiring - No hire fee or Building Control Inspection Fee (for temporary demountable
    structures) is payable except, where appropriate, for costs incurred by the Council and for a Damage
    Deposit. The event organiser must enter into a licence agreement with the Council for the use of
    the land and comply with the qualifying conditions below prior to the event.

To qualify:

Registered Charities

The charity must be registered with the charity commission. The event to take place on council land must be
organised by the trustees of the registered charity for the sole purpose of raising funds for its charitable
purposes.  The council may require a letter from the trustees to confirm this arrangement.



8

Charitable Event 

The event must be operated on a not for profit basis, with any profit distributed to a registered charity; or
organisation set up for charitable or community purposes. The council at its absolute discretion shall decide
whether an organisation is set up for charitable or community purposes and its decision is final.

The entire “proceeds*” from the event, less any “reasonable costs**” incurred in delivering the event, shall be
donated to the nominated charity/ies or community organisation(s).

The event organiser shall no later than 28 days after the event provide a basic set of accounts, and
supporting documentation, to the council clearly identifying income, expenditure and profit distribution. 

The council reserves the right to require the event organiser to pay the commercial fee for the use of the
land should they breach one or more of the conditions and the right to refuse the hire of council land for any
further events.

*“Proceeds” include monies from ticket sales, liquor and concession fees, sponsorship, collections and any
other income however generated

**“Reasonable costs” include fencing the land, SIA personnel, performance licences, premise licence
requirements, health and safety requirements and other services/expenditure essential for the event to go
ahead.

USE OF TOWN CENTRE/RETAIL AREAS
£ VAT 2020

For promotional and public entertainment activities in Gosport High Street
Commercial/promotional activities Per metre (minimum 5 metres charge applies) 7.50 7.50 0.0%
Non-Commercial activities Per metre (minimum 5 metres charge applies) 3.00 3.00 0.0%

USE OF COUNCIL OWNED LAND FOR FILMING

Commercial activities (where an income or a benefit is obtained) Per day 150.00 E 150.00 0.0%
Non-Commercial activities (including promoting the Borough) No Charge No Charge

CCTV

Insurance related CCTV footage request S 105.00 new charge



9

LICENCES AND REGISTRATIONS
£ VAT 2020

NEW FEE
Animal Licences and Fees - (** indicates new fee structure following changes in legislation Nov 2018) STRUCTURE

Dangerous Wild Animals Registration (Note 1) 140.00 O 140.00 0.0%

Hiring out Horses **
New Application/Renewal (Note 1) 210.00
Grant of Licence 50.00
Variation Application (Note 1) 80.00
Grant of Variation to Licence 25.00

Dog/Cat Boarding (Kennels/Catteries) ** 140.00 O
New Application/Renewal (Note 1) 200.00
Grant of Licence 50.00
Variation Application (Note 1) 75.00
Grant 25.00

Home Boarding Dogs **
New Application/Renewal (Note 1) 75.00
Grant of Licence 40.00

Home Boarding Fee Franchise (Including Day Care for Dogs) **
New Application/Renewal (Note 1) 120.00
Grant of Licence 60.00
Additional Dog Boarding Franchise porperty applied for 75.00

Selling Animals as Pets **
New Application/Renewal (Note 1) 160.00
Grant of Licence 50.00

Keeping or Training Animals for Exhibition **
New Application/Renewal (Note 1) 160.00
Grant of Licence 50.00

Dog Breeders Licence (Note 1) 140.00 180.00 28.6%

Zoo Licence On Request

Notes
1. Plus any Veterinarian Inspection costs

Other Licences and Registrations

Scrap Metal Dealer
New 250.00 O 250.00 0.0%
Renewal/Variation 140.00 O 140.00 0.0%
Certified Copy 12.00 O 12.00 0.0%

Scrap Metal Mobile Collector
New/Variation 140.00 O 140.00 0.0%
Renewal 100.00 O 100.00 0.0%
Replacement Licence 22.00 O 22.00 0.0%

Sex Establishment
New 3,000.00 O 3000.00 0.0%
Renewal 2,000.00 O 2000.00 0.0%



10

Transfer 2,000.00 O 2000.00 0.0%

Skin Piercers, Tattooing, Acupuncture, Electrolysis
Premises 90.00 O 90.00 0.0%
Person 75.00 O 75.00 0.0%

Street Trading Consents - Licenced under statutory obligation

Annual Consent 7 Days/week Food Stalls/Vehicle/Trailer 1,210.00 O 1210.00 0.0%
Non-Food Stalls/Vehicle/Trailer 860.00 O 860.00 0.0%

Up to 3 Days/week Food Stalls/Vehicle/Trailer 615.00 O 615.00 0.0%
Non-Food Stalls/Vehicle/Trailer 450.00 O 450.00 0.0%

1 Day/week Food Stalls/Vehicle/Trailer 345.00 O 345.00 0.0%
Non-Food Stalls/Vehicle/Trailer 305.00 O 305.00 0.0%

Six Month Consent 7 days/week Food Stalls/Vehicle/Trailer 630.00 O 630.00 0.0%
Non-Food Stalls/Vehicle/Trailer 445.00 O 445.00 0.0%

Daily Consent Per 30cm (1ft) 2.65 O 2.65 0.0%
Minimum charge 4.6m (15ft)

Tables and Chairs
New 290.00 O 290.00 0.0%
Renewal 180.00 O 180.00 0.0%

Street Collections No Charge No Charge
House to House Collections No Charge No Charge
Caravan Site Licence No Charge No Charge

LICENSING ACT 2003 AND GAMBLING ACT 2005 PUBLIC REGISTERS
£ VAT 2020

Single Entry copy of a Premises Licence 6.00 O 6.00 0.0%
Single Copy of an Application Form for a Premises Licence 16.00 O 16.00 0.0%
Single Premises Category (eg Takeaways) 75.00 O 75.00 0.0%
Whole Register of each single Act, e.g. Licensing Act 2003 235.00 O 235.00 0.0%

LICENSING ACT 2003 (STATUTORY FEES)
£ VAT 2020

Premises / Club Applications / Variations

The fees are based on rateable values of properties

Rateable Value Band Initial Licence Fee Annual Fee

£0 - £4,300 A 100.00 70.00 O No changeStatutory
£4,301 - £33,000 B 190.00 180.00 O No changeStatutory
£33,001 - £87,000 C 315.00 295.00 O No changeStatutory
£87,001 - £125,000 D 450.00 320.00 O No changeStatutory
£125,001 and over E 635.00 350.00 O No changeStatutory

A multiplier is applied to premises in Bands D and E where they are used exclusively or primarily
for the supply of alcohol for consumption on the premises

Rateable Value Band Initial Licence Fee Annual Fee

£87,001 - £125,000 D 900.00 640.00 O No changeStatutory
£125,001 and over E 1,905.00 1050.00 O No changeStatutory

There are additional fees for premises licence applications, and the annual fee for exceptionally large
scale events (5,000+), unless certain conditions apply. Please consult the Licensing Department.

Personal Licences, Temporary Events and Other Fees (Statutory)

Application for the grant or renewal of a personal licence 37.00 O 37.00 Statutory



11

Temporary event notice 21.00 O 21.00 Statutory
Replacement of stolen, lost, etc. licence or summary 10.50 O 10.50 Statutory
Application for a provisional statement where premises being built etc. 315.00 O 315.00 Statutory
Notification of change of name or address 10.50 O 10.50 Statutory
Application to vary licence to specify individual as premises supervisor 23.00 O 23.00 Statutory
Application for transfer of premises licence 23.00 O 23.00 Statutory
Interim authority notice following death etc. of licence holder 23.00 O 23.00 Statutory
Replacement of stolen, lost, etc., certificate or summary 10.50 O 10.50 Statutory
Notification of change of name or alteration of rules of club 10.50 O 10.50 Statutory
Change of relevant registered address of club 10.50 O 10.50 Statutory
Replacement of stolen, lost, etc., Temporary Event Notice 10.50 O 10.50 Statutory
Replacement of stolen, lost, etc., Personal Licence 10.50 O 10.50 Statutory
Notification change of name or address 10.50 O 10.50 Statutory
Right of freeholder to be notified of licensing matters 21.00 O 21.00 Statutory
Minor Variations 89.00 O 89.00 Statutory

GAMBLING ACT 2005 (STATUTORY FEES) VAT 

PREMISES LICENCES New Annual Re-
Application Fee Variation Transfer Instatement

£ £ £ £ £
Existing Casinos N/A N/A 2,000.00 1,350.00 1,350.00 O No changeStatutory
New Small Casino 8,000.00 5,000.00 4,000.00 1,800.00 1,800.00 O No changeStatutory
New Large Casino 10,000.00 10,000.00 5,000.00 2,150.00 2,150.00 O No changeStatutory
Regional Casino 15,000.00 15,000.00 7,500.00 6,500.00 6,500.00 O No changeStatutory
Bingo Club 3,500.00 1,000.00 1,750.00 1,200.00 1,200.00 O No changeStatutory
Betting Premises (exc tracks) 3,000.00 600.00 1,500.00 1,200.00 1,200.00 O No changeStatutory
Tracks 2,500.00 1,000.00 1,250.00 950.00 950.00 O No changeStatutory
Family Entertainment
Centres

2,000.00 750.00 1,000.00 950.00 950.00 O No changeStatutory
Adult Gaming
Centres

2,000.00 1,000.00 1,000.00 1,200.00 1,200.00 O No changeStatutory

Application for Licence Application
Provisional (provisional Copy Notification
Statement Statement holders) Licence of Change

£ £ £ £
Existing Casinos N/A N/A 25.00 50.00 O No changeStatutory
New Small Casino 8,000.00 3,000.00 25.00 50.00 O No changeStatutory
New Large Casino 10,000.00 5,000.00 25.00 50.00 O No changeStatutory
Regional Casino 15,000.00 8,000.00 25.00 50.00 O No changeStatutory
Bingo Club 3,500.00 1,200.00 25.00 50.00 O No changeStatutory
Betting Premises (exc tracks) 3,000.00 1,200.00 25.00 50.00 O No changeStatutory
Tracks 2,500.00 950.00 25.00 50.00 O No changeStatutory
Family Entertainment Centres 2,000.00 950.00 25.00 50.00 O No changeStatutory
Adult Gaming Centres 2,000.00 1,200.00 25.00 50.00 O No changeStatutory

PERMITS
Application Transitional Renewal Annual

Fee Application Fee Fee Fee
£ £ £ £

Family Entertainment Centre - 
Gaming Machine 300.00 100.00 300.00 N/A O No changeStatutory
Prize Gaming 300.00 100.00 300.00 N/A O No changeStatutory
Alcohol Licenced Premises - 
  notification of 2 or less machines 50.00 N/A N/A N/A O No changeStatutory
Alcohol Licenced Premises - 
  notification of more than 2 machines 150.00 100.00 N/A 50.00 O No changeStatutory
Club Gaming Permit 200.00 100.00 200.00 50.00 O No changeStatutory
Club Gaming Machine Permit 200.00 100.00 200.00 50.00 O No changeStatutory
Club Fast-Track for Gaming Permit or
Gaming Machine Permit 100.00 100.00 100.00 50.00 O No changeStatutory
Small Society Lottery Registration 40.00 N/A N/A 20.00 O No changeStatutory

Change of Name Copy of Permit Variation Transfer



12

£ £ £ £

Family Entertainment Centre Permits 25.00 15.00 N/A N/A O No changeStatutory
Prize Gaming Permits 25.00 15.00 N/A N/A O No changeStatutory
Alcohol Licenced Premises -
  notification of 2 or less machines N/A N/A N/A N/A O No changeStatutory
Alcohol Licenced Premises - 
  notification of more than 2 machines 25.00 15.00 100.00 25.00 O No changeStatutory
Club Gaming Permit N/A 15.00 100.00 N/A O No changeStatutory
Club Gaming Machine Permit N/A 15.00 100.00 N/A O No changeStatutory
Small Society Lottery Registration N/A N/A N/A N/A O No changeStatutory

MARKETS
£ VAT 

Frontage

Gosport Market Tuesday Per 30cm (1ft) 1.00 O 1.00 0.0%
Minimum charge 4.6m (15ft)

Gosport Market Saturday Up to 10ft 20.00 O 20.00 0.0%
3m (10ft) pitch 27.50 O 27.50 0.0%

Up to 4.6m (15ft) pitch 32.50 O 32.50 0.0%
Up to 6m (20ft) pitch 41.50 O 41.50 0.0%
Up to 9.1m (30ft) pitch 55.00 O 55.00 0.0%
Up to 12.2m (40ft) pitch 65.00 O 65.00 0.0%
Up to 60ft 90.00 90.00 0.0%

60ft+ Price on application

A 20% upwards tolerance in length is permitted Saturdays

Speciality Markets Per 30cm (1ft) 1.00 O 1.00 0.0%
Minimum 3m (10ft) pitch

(inc. Craft, Food & Drink, Farmer's Markets, Christmas Markets)

Notes
Imperial to metric conversions are approximate

PEST CONTROL
Concession £ VAT 

DOMESTIC PREMISES

Fleas, Bedbugs plus unknown infestations, to visit and quote No charge 32.00 S 32.00 0.0%

All Other Insects (including wasps) No charge 73.00 S 73.00 0.0%

Rodent treatment No charge 63.00 S 63.00 0.0%

Concessions:
Persons on low income, defined as being in receipt of one of the following 

Income-based Jobseeker's Allowance
Income-realted Employment and Support Allowance
Income Support
Pension Credit (Guarantee)
Universal Credit (maximum award)

NB - Officers must be shown documentary evidence of entitlement by at least one member of household

PEST CONTROL: COMMERCIAL PREMISES

Rodents and insects for up to the first 15 minutes 80.00 S 80.00 0.0%
Charge for each additional 15 minutes or part thereof 18.00 S 18.00 0.0%

Notes

1. Charges include cost of materials and all rates quoted include VAT
2. Payment to be made at time of booking or prior to treatment
3. That no responsibility can be accepted for any loss or damage, however caused,
through treatment being carried out.
4. Invoices are not as a general rule issued, but when issued there is a 15% administrative
charge in addition to the above charges.

PRIVATE HIRE / HACKNEY CARRIAGE 
£ VAT 

Hackney Carriage Knowledge Test 23.00 O 23.00 0.0%



13

Private Hire  Operator - 1 Year Licence 270.00 O 270.00 0.0%
Operator - 3 Year Licence [Note 1] 650.00 O 650.00 0.0%
Operator - 5 Year Licence [Note 1] 1,100.00 O 1,100.00 0.0%
Vehicle 275.00 O 275.00 0.0%
Driver - 1 Year Licence 100.00 O 100.00 0.0%
Driver - 3 Year Licence 240.00 O 240.00 0.0%

Hackney Carriage  Vehicle 275.00 O 275.00 0.0%
Driver - 1 Year Licence 100.00 O 100.00 0.0%
Driver - 3 Year Licence 240.00 O 240.00 0.0%

Private Hire & Hackney Carriage driver (both licences) 140.00 O 140.00 0.0%
Private Hire & Hackney Driver - 3 Year Licence 350.00 O 350.00 0.0%
Driver and Vehicle Licensing Agency check 6.00 O 6.00 0.0%
(annual licence holders to coincide with triennial criminal record check) [Note 2]

Hackney Carriage/Private Hire Driver's 2nd Licence 37.00 O 37.00 0.0%
Criminal record check - paid to GBC [Note 2] 44.00 O 44.00 0.0%

Issue of a replacement Hackney Carriage or Private Hire:
Driver's Photo Badge 18.00 O 18.00 0.0%
Vehicle Windscreen Badge 23.00 O 23.00 0.0%
Vehicle External Plate 23.00 O 23.00 0.0%

Notes

1. Following new legislation effective from 01 October 2015. Changes to taxi fees have to be advertised and any
responses considered.
2. Amount charged by the external agency to the Council, and may be subject to revision during the year.

PUBLIC CONVENIENCES
£ VAT 

Radar Key For disabled public conveniences 5.00 O 5.00 0.0%

PUBLICATIONS
£ VAT 

Statement of Accounts 20.00 Z 20.00 0.0%
Budget Book 20.00 Z 20.00 0.0%

REFUSE COLLECTIONS
£ VAT 

Special Collections
Collection, loading and disposal (per hour) **
** To be negotiated by the Council with the contractor (plus administration costs)

Domestic Clinical Waste Collection Provide and disposal of yellow bags No charge No charge
Provide 'Sharps' and disposal 4 litre capacity No charge No charge

7 litre capacity No charge No charge

Removal of Bulk Refuse 1 Item 25.00 O 25.00 0.0%
2 Items 40.00 O 40.00 0.0%
3 to 5 Items 60.00 O 60.00 0.0%
Residents receiving benefit (Note 1) 50% of above O 50% of above
Over 5 items By Arrangement O By Arrangement

Garden Recycling Scheme (Note 4) Sign up to the sevice:
Existing/signup between 16/12/19-16/02/20 50.00 O 50.00 0.0%



14

Additional bin (maximum 4 per household) 40.00
17/02/20 - 05/07/20 60.00 O 60.00 0.0%
06/07/20 onwards 50.00 O 50.00 0.0%
September to November 40.00 O n/a

Replacement wheeled bin (note 2) 30.00 O 30.00 0.0%
Roll of 10 replacement black sacks 1.80 O 1.80 0.0%
Reusable Recycing Bags 2.10 O 2.10 0.0%

Notes

1. Resident in receipt of Personal Independence Payments, Universal Credit or equivalent
2. Unless the replacement is for a bin which has been stolen and a Crime Reference Number is provided. 
3. The fee stated is for a 240 litre wheeled bin (or smaller) only.  Larger 660 and 1100 litre bins are replaced
    at cost plus administration
4. A new garden recycling scheme was introduced in February 2018 where a 240-litre wheelie bin is provided
    for green waste. The bins are collected once a fortnight over 40 weeks of the year between February and
    November, the scheme will be run and administered by Urbaser who are the council's waste contractor.

SPORTS Concession
£ £ VAT 

BOWLS

Per player per hour Adult 3.70 4.50 S 4.50 0.0%
Bowls and Slip Hire 3.50 S 3.50 0.0%

CRICKET

Privett No 1 Adult 55.00 77.00 S 77.00 0.0%
Weekdays after 6 pm 39.00 60.00 S 60.00 0.0%

Other Sites Adult 44.00 72.00 S 72.00 0.0%
Weekdays after 6 pm 34.00 55.00 S 55.00 0.0%

Synthetic Wicket Adult 34.00 55.00 S 55.00 0.0%
(Gosport Park) Weekdays after 6 pm 28.00 39.00 S 39.00 0.0%

FOOTBALL

Privett Park Enclosure* Gosport Clubs 82.00 132.00 S 132.00 0.0%
Outside Users 120.00 192.00 S 192.00 0.0%
Use of Floodlights 43.00 68.00 S 68.00 0.0%

* To book, please contact Gosport Borough Football Club direct

All Other Sites 39.00 60.00 S 60.00 0.0%
Sites without shower facilities 34.00 50.00 S 50.00 0.0%
Sites without changing facilities 27.00 39.00 S 39.00 0.0%

Training Pitch / Dressing Rooms 23.00 S 23.00 0.0%
Net Pins 0.85 S 0.85 0.0%

9v9 Pitches 21.00 S 21.00 0.0%

MINI SOCCER

Per match 17.50 S 17.50 0.0%
Half day per pitch 38.00 S 38.00 0.0%

RUGBY

Gosport Park Adult 39.00 61.00 S 61.00 0.0%

Dressing Rooms (separate use) 24.00 S 24.00 0.0%
Refreshment Rooms (separate use) 13.00 S 13.00 0.0%

Notes

1. The above hire charges include use of dressing rooms where these are available



15

2. Double Banked football hire will be 150% of the normal hire charge
3. VAT exemption for Seasonal Hires complying with Customs & Excise conditions
4. Concessionary rates apply for the disabled, over 60's and under 18's
5. Charges for tournaments to be by negotiation with the Head of Streetscene Services

STOKES BAY MOBILE HOME PARK
£ VAT 

All Homes - weekly rent (exclusive of rates and water charges) - 48 weeks - E Statutory
Statutory increase will be applied

WILDGROUNDS NATURE RESERVE
£ VAT 

PERMIT ACCESS

Day Ticket Adult 2.00 S 2.00 0.0%
Concessions (Disabled, Over 60's & under 18's) 1.50 S 1.50 0.0%

Monthly Permit * Adult 5.00 S 5.00 0.0%
Concessions (Disabled, Over 60's & under 18's) 3.50 S 3.50 0.0%

* 150 permits per month March to October
  300 permits per month July to August

School Parties Non-Gosport 30.00 E 30.00 0.0%
Gosport No Charge No Charge

Guided Walks Adult 2.50 E 2.50 0.0%
as advertised Concessions (Disabled, Over 60's & under 18's) 2.00 E 2.00 0.0%

Family - 2 Adults & up to 3 children 10.00 E 10.00 0.0%

Groups & Organisations 35.00 E 35.00 0.0%
(Groups up to 20 people)

Notes

1. Children under the age of 5 are admitted free.



16

PLANNING PRE-APPLICATIONS
£ VAT 

General Advice

General enquiries and advice on planning procedures Free Free

Permitted Development Enquiry

All submissions for informal opinion on requirement for planning Householders 20.00 S 20.00 0.0%
permission Others 39.00 S 39.00 0.0%

Pre-Application Submissions - advice on the likelihood of planning permission
being granted prior to the submission of a planning application

Minor residential: 1 - 3 dwellings See also Note 1 131.50 S 131.50 0.0%
4 + dwellings See also Note 1 265.00 S 265.00 0.0%

Major residential: 10 - 49 dwellings See also Note 2 661.50 S 661.50 0.0%
50 - 100 dwellings See also Note 2 1,050.00 S 1,050.00 0.0%

Minor industrial/commercial: under 1000m2 See also Note 1 105.00 S 105.00 0.0%

Major industrial/commercial: 1000 - 5000m2 See also Note 2 661.50 S 661.50 0.0%
5000 + m2 See also Note 2 1,050.00 S 1,050.00 0.0%

Others: e.g. Change of use of property or land / Adverts / Telecommunication Masts 131.50 S 131.50 0.0%

Other major / very large scale / mixed proposals: Fee will be hourly rate x no. of hours S
 of officers dealing with the matter

Householder Development (development which relates to the extension, improvement
or alteration of an existing residential dwelling): 50.00 50.00 0.0%

Community uses which are non-profiting Free
Proposals made by Local Councils Free
Works to trees Free

Notes:

1. Where a fee is payable and the proposal affects a Listed Building or its setting or is located within a
Conservation Area an additional charge of £80 will be levied

2. Where a fee is payable and the proposal affects a Listed Building or its setting or is located within a
Conservation Area an additional charge of £200 will be levied

3. Where a consultee charges the Borough Council for advice provided this will be payable by the applicant
in addition to the pre-application fee payable.

4. Proposals for large and/or mixed use development or where no floorspace or dwellings specified, fee will
be calculated by reference to hourly rate x no. of hours of officers dealing with the matter.

5. A response on minor and other applications will constitute one written response and/or one meeting (max
2 hrs).  A response on a major application will constitute one written response and/or 3 meetings (6 hrs max
in total).  Any follow up written responses or meetings required based on the same proposal or an
amendment to it will be calculated by reference to the hourly rate x no. of hours of officers dealing with the
matter and this will be payable before the advice is provided. All new submissions will require a new fee.

PLANNING PRE-APPLICATIONS (CONTINUED)

6. Each pre-application request can only relate to one site and only one proposal will be accepted for each
site. If you would like us to give advice on more than one layout or proposal for the same site then a
separate request will need to be made for each scheme along with a further fee for each proposal.

7. There will be no reduction in fee where the application would be exempt from a fee because it had
previously been withdrawn, refused or approved.

8. The fee is payable on submission, before the Council undertakes any work on the proposal or provides
any advice.

9. The choice of who is the appropriate officer to deal with a particular case will be at the discretion of
Gosport Borough Council.

10. Hourly Rate - £60.00



17

Other Charges

Section 106 - Planning Officer costs in negotiating
agreement

Fee will be calculated with
reference to complexity of
individual agreements and the
time required to deal with the
request at the hourly rate 

SSection 106 - Compliance Checks where
applicants/prospective purchaser seeks confirmation that
the terms of a legal agreement have been complied with

COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY (CIL)
Effective from 2nd February 2016. For the schedule of charges please refer to the
Planning homepage

ANTI SOCIAL BEHAVIOUR ACT 2003 
£ VAT 

High Hedges Application 650.00 O 650.00 0.0%

POSTAL NAMING AND NUMBERING
£ VAT 

New Development of 1 - 5 plots 200.00 O No change
New Development/phases of 5-20 plots 200.00  + £10.00 per property O No change
New Development/phases of 21-100 plots 400.00  + £5.00 per property O No change
New Development/phases of 100+ plots 950.00  + £5.00 per property O No change
Naming of new block of flats/building 200.00  + £10.00 per property O No change
New postal address for an individual property 100.00 O No change
Change to new addresses due to the development
changing after the schedule has been issued

15.00  per property O No change
Research archive for address history 100.00 O No change
Renaming an existing Street 200.00  + £5.00 per property O No change

Notes

At the discretion of the Building Control Manager, the Council, may not require a charge to be paid for the
renaming/renumbering of roads where there has been a historical problem with existing road
naming/numbering scheme.

BUILDING REGULATIONS APPLICATIONS

Gosport Building Control, operating in partnership with Fareham Building Control under the name 'Building
Control Partnership' have prepared a scheme of charges in accordance with The Building (Local Authority
Charges) Regulations 2010

For full details of charges applicable for the Building Regulations control functions please contact the
Building Control Partnership on 01329 824823.

http://www.gosport.gov.uk/sections/your-council/council-services/planning-section/planning/


This page is intentionally left blank



.          

Board/Committee: COUNCIL
Date of Meeting: 9 OCTOBER 2019
Title: CLIMATE CHANGE WORKING GROUP
Author: BOROUGH SOLICITOR & MONITORING OFFICER
Status: FOR DECISION

Purpose

To confirm the composition and structure of the Climate Change Working 
Group set up by a meeting of Full Council on 24 July 2019 and to appoint a 
Climate Change Awareness Champion.

Recommendation

1. 1. That Council confirm the composition and structure of the Climate Change 
Working Group and set out in the body of the report 

2. 2. That Councillor Piers Bateman is appointed as the Council’s Climate 
Change Awareness Champion.

1 Background

1.1 Full Council met on 24 July 2019 and resolved to set up a cross-party 
Climate Change Working Group and that the Council would appoint a 
Climate Change Awareness Champion.

2 Report

2.1

2.2

2.3

The Group Leaders agreed that the composition of the Climate 
Change Working Group should be 7 Members from the different 
political groups as follows:-
a. Conservative – 4 Members
b. Liberal Democrat – 2 Members
c. Labour – 1 Member

It was also agreed that those Members who are nominated from their 
political groups may be substituted by another Member of the same 
group from time to time applying the rule in Standing Order 2.3.6.

Nominations for membership of the Climate Change Working Group 
have been received from Group Leaders as follows:

a. Councillors Bateman, Raffaelli, Rev Blackman and Mrs Hook 
from the Conservative Group

b. Councillors Mitchell and Johnston from the Liberal Democrat 
Group

c. Councillor Cully from the Labour Group

Financial Services comments:
Legal Services comments:
Crime and Disorder: Not applicable
Equality and Diversity: Not applicable
Service Improvement Plan
Implications:
Corporate Plan:
EIA: None

Agenda Item 9



Financial Services comments: None
Legal Services comments: None
Crime and Disorder: N/A
Equality and Diversity: N/A
Background papers: None
Appendices/Enclosures: None
Report author/Lead Officer: Paul Grant


	Agenda
	2 To confirm the Minutes of Meeting of the Council held on 24th July 2019 (copy herewith).
	Minutes

	6 Consideration of recommendations by Boards of the Council:
	06 Report to Board Shopping Trolley Policy- Final
	06a Report to Board Shopping Trolley Policy- Final
	06B Appendix B - Result of Consultation
	07 P and O Board part 1
	Procurement Report September 19 PO 25.9.19
	Part 4 Schedule 13 Contract Procedure Rules.doc changes  for PO  September 19

	7 To receive the following Part II minutes of the Boards of the Council:
	Ec Dev part II - Copy
	P and O Part II

	8 Fees and charges
	GBC Fees & Charges 2020 for Council

	9 Climate Change Working Group

